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Our Annual Report provides an account of what we have achieved in providing

high quality healthcare over the course of the last year to the patients and

communities we serve. The report examines the progress we have made, not only

against national targets and how we have performed financially, but also in

providing services that genuinely meet the priorities and concerns of our patients,

members and the public. 

In becoming a Foundation Trust six years ago we benefited from the associated freedoms

and flexibilities that come with it. Not only are we more in charge of our own destiny but

we are now making serious efforts to get much closer to understanding what is important

to our patients and members and reflecting this in what we do, and how we do it. The

cornerstone of this approach is striving at all times to improve the quality of the services

we offer and ensuring that they are delivered in the best way possible every time. This is

the essence of our approach and it touches on every aspect of the hospital, from the hi-tech

clinical interventions carried out by world class clinicians, through to making sure our

hospital is clean, tidy and welcoming. Central to this ethos are the staff we employ. Time

and again it is their outstanding efforts, commitment and skills that makes a real difference

to our patients.  

We l c o m e
to the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS 
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INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIRMAN
AND CHIEF  EXECUTIVE



Over the last year we have maintained a strong performance and moved ahead in making

progress towards achieving our strategic priorities, identified by members, staff and

governors.  During the last year we:

Foundation Trust Annual Report 2009/10
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Achieved a ‘good’ rating for quality of services and an ‘excellent’ for financial

management in the 2009 Healthcare Commission annual health check 

Maintained the 18 week Referral To Treatment for both admitted and non-admitted

patients, with particular improvement in orthopaedics which had historically been

a lower performing specialty 

Exceeded national targets with 88% of admitted patients and 95% non-admitted

patients receiving treatment within 15 weeks of GP referral   

Made impressive reductions in the incidence of MRSA Bacteraemia (down by 17% in

the year) and Clostridium Difficile (down by 32% in the year)

Achieved the national cancer waiting time targets

Generated an investment fund to improve our services into the future

Invested over £5 million in new equipment and facilities to improve patient

experience and to help our staff provide the quality of care they aspire to deliver for

all patients. Investments included the 24-station renal dialysis unit at Heavitree

Hospital, the refurbishment of two operating theatres for day surgery, and investment

in a new linear accelerator (LINAC) to improve waiting times for cancer treatment



We are proud of what we have been able to achieve over the course of the year not least

because this has been a difficult and challenging time. In particular over the winter we

faced significant rises in emergency attendances and admissions, a strong growth in

demand for our elective services and outbreaks of diarrhoea and vomiting illnesses, brought

into hospital, which closed wards. 

In common with many Foundation Trusts across the country, these factors created

enormous pressures in managing the admission and discharge of patients but our staff

coped extremely well. Positive changes have been made to the way in which the NHS and

social services work together across Devon to manage these issues. More remains to be

done to ensure that this situation is further eased. 

The Board and the Council of Governors continued to work together over the year.

Governors have worked very hard during the year, undertaking a review of their role and

this work will continue into 2010/11.
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An  overv iew o f  2009/2010  f rom the  Cha i rman  



The review comes at a time when, six years after becoming an FT, it seemed timely to

ensure that our governors were fulfilling their role as effectively as possible, learning from

other FTs, and were taking a more outward facing role. In many ways the review reflects

the ongoing evolution of the FT model towards the intended ideal of a hospital that is

embedded in the community in a way that enables people to have a real say and hold the

Board to account.  We have also sought to engage in different and better ways with our

members during the year primarily using the internet. This enables us to test the views of

members regularly. We have also taken steps this year to give a high regard to our role as

a good corporate citizen.  During 2009/10 the Trust has developed a Carbon Reduction

Strategy reflecting the NHS commitment to reduce the 2007 carbon footprint by 10% by

2015 and has established a Sustainability Committee to drive the Trusts’ approach to

sustainability.

The coming year will undoubtedly be a challenging time for our services as the effects of

the recession on public services takes hold.  The Board will seek to steer the RD&E

responsibly with the help of our Governors and staff to continue to offer the very highest

quality of care. The squeeze on public finances does offer an opportunity, however, to

rethink how we deliver care, not just within the hospital but across Devon, in a way that

best meets the needs of our patients. Our staff will be a crucial resource in identifying new

ways of working and doing things which will benefit patients and reduce costs.  

Our staff have a proud track record of success in developing new ways of doing things and

we are confident that with their innovation and creativity we can continue to deliver top

quality patient care. We are well placed as a Foundation Trust to prepare for and succeed

in the changed economic environment and to continue to provide an excellent service for

the communities that we serve.

Angela Ballatti Angela Pedder OBE

Chairman Chief Executive
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The Royal Devon and Exeter Foundation Trust (RD&E) is a leading acute hospital

trust providing services to around 350,000 people in Exeter, East Devon and Mid

Devon. The Trust also provides some specialist services to people from further

afield, increasing the population served to over 500,000. 

The RD&E has a track record, spanning over 250 years, of providing high quality health

services for local people. The RD&E Foundation Trust was founded on 1 April 2004 under

the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003, as re-enacted in

the National Health Service Act 2006 (the 2006 Act).

The relationship between the RD&E and the public has significantly changed since it became

a Foundation Trust in April 2004. There is now a much greater sense of accountability to the

community and a genuine engagement through our 20,000 members and our governors.

The RD&E has embraced the changes made to the way healthcare is delivered in the UK by

focusing on providing high quality services that meet the needs of the community in a

context in which choice and competition are key drivers. Through its involvement with its

members, governors and partners in a way that would have previously been unimaginable,

the RD&E has set out its longer term strategy based around three core themes: Respond,

Deliver and Enable. 

Most of the RD&E’s services, including specialist units such as the West of England Eye Unit

and the internationally renowned Princess Elizabeth Orthopaedic Centre, are based at our

main hospital at Wonford. The purpose-built Centre for Women’s Health, encompassing

maternity, neonatology and gynaecology services, is also based at Wonford. Heavitree

Hospital continues to provide a range of outpatient services, as well as accommodation for

the Learning and Development team, and the Peninsula College of Medicine and Dentistry.

Ab o u t  t h e
ROYAL  DEVON &  EXETER NHS 
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98% of patients in Emergency Department seen within 4 hours

Staggered admission times offered to patients attending for surgery

One Stop Clinics 

A mobile Glaucoma clinic service to be delivered this year

More outpatients clinics delivered locally

LESS TIME WAITING



The RD&E runs the Honeylands Children’s Centre (for specialist assessment and support for

children with special needs and their families), the Exeter Mobility Centre (providing

orthotics, prosthetics, wheelchairs and special seating), and the Mardon neuro-rehabilitation

centre. Across Trust sites, the RD&E has more than 30 wards, 20 operating theatres, around

850 inpatient beds and 75 day case beds. During the last year, we spent around £335

million and employed around 6,000 people.

In planning and developing services to meet the healthcare needs of local people, the RD&E

works closely with the South West Strategic Health Authority, NHS Devon, Devon

Partnership Trust (mental health and learning disabilities), Northern Devon

Healthcare NHS Trust, South Devon NHS Foundation Trust, Peninsula College of

Medicine and Dentistry, the South Western Ambulance Service Trust

(SWAST) and Devon County Council.

FOUNDATION TRUST
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In 2009/10, the RD&E made great strides in developing the specialist healthcare

services it provides and improving the hospital environment for patients and

visitors.

At the RD&E Heavitree hospital site renal patients are now receiving life-saving treatment

in a new £2.2 million haemodialysis unit and the dermatology service moved into more

versatile and bigger clinic space

New dedicated stroke clinic rooms have been created alongside the Acute Stroke Unit at

Wonford where suspected mini stroke patients are being fast tracked to receive specialist care

within two days of referral to the RD&E, compared with the national average of seven days 

The RD&E has a track record for innovation as a pilot site for national NHS initiatives.

Frontline staff played a key role in testing ‘The Productive Operating Theatre’ programme

before its national launch in 2009. Leadership, team working, patient safety and theatres

efficiency are key elements of Productive Theatre to improve patient experience 

In September the RD&E participated in a research study of two swine flu vaccines for

children. The paediatrics research infrastructure and team were able to hold, at short notice,

evening and weekend clinics for this important study which informed national decisions

about which vaccine would provide the best protection for vulnerable patients 

Treacherous weather conditions over the winter months generated a record-breaking

number of emergency attendances with many casualties of falls and accidents. The

professionalism, training and flexibility of our staff meant essential healthcare services were

maintained when there were these winter pressures, prolonged periods locally of infection

control measures to manage the sickness bug norovirus and at the height of the pandemic

swine flu outbreak

The main Wonford hospital entrance is now light, modern and more welcoming with a much

improved reception area. Signs in the hospital to help patients and visitors navigate their

way around the site have been improved. Support facilities in this busy concourse are much

better including the bereavement suite, Health Information Centre and public toilets

Investment in a new third linear accelerator (LINAC) to improve waiting times for cancer

treatment.
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Highlights of the year
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A clean hospital
with good food

The RD&E continues to provide a clean and well
maintained hospital environment for its patients.

Assessment results published by the National Patient
Safety Agency (NPSA) last July confirmed that the RD&E
scored ‘Good’ ratings across the three categories: food,

environment and privacy and dignity.

• The Patient Environment Action Team (PEAT) assessments inspect
NHS hospitals with more than 10 inpatient beds 

• The RD&E was among the 84 per cent of the 1,265 sites which scored either
good or excellent for the environment which assessed standards of

cleanliness, decoration, linen, furniture and state of repair 

• The RD&E was among the 94 per cent of sites scoring good or
excellent for the levels of privacy and dignity which examined the

quality of sleeping accommodation as well as toilet/
bathroom facilities

• The RD&E was among the 95 per cent of sites rated
good or excellent for the quality, choice and

availability of food for patients. 



The Board of Directors is legally accountable for services provided by the Trust

and is responsible for setting the strategic direction, having taken account of the

views of the Council of Governors, and for the overall management of the RD&E.

The Board of Directors are accountable to the membership via the Council of

Governors.

The Board, led by the non-executive Chairman, is made up of executive and non-executive

directors (NEDs).  There are six non-executive directors who, together with the Chairman,

form a majority on the Board. Executive Directors, of which there are six, manage the day

to day operational and financial performance of the Trust.  

The Board of Directors works on a unitary basis, being collectively responsible for the

performance of the NHS Foundation Trust and exercising all the powers of the Trust.  In so

doing, Board members bear full legal liability for the operational and financial performance

of the Trust.

There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman and the Chief Executive. The

former heads the Board, providing leadership and ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects

of its role, and sets the Board agenda. The Chairman ensures the Board receive timely and

pertinent information to ensure that members can exercise their responsibilities.  The Chief

Executive is responsible for running all operational aspects of the Trust's business, assisted

by the team of executive directors

D i r e c t o r s ’
REPORT
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THE  BOARD OF  DIRECTORS



The framework within which decisions affecting the work of the Trust are made are set out

in the Trust’s published Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of

Delegation, copies of which may be viewed on the Trust’s website (www.rdehospital.nhs.uk)

or on request from the Foundation Trust Secretary.  Ten formal Board meetings and three

development meetings were held during the year alongside additional briefing meetings

and seminars.

The Board of Directors and Council of Governors held two joint development days during

the year and Board members regularly attend Council of Governors meetings to keep

abreast of governors’ views.

The composition of the Board is in accordance with the Trust’s Constitution and the Policy

for the Composition of NEDs on the Board.  The Board considers it is appropriately

composed in order to fulfil its statutory and constitutional function and remain within

Monitor’s Terms of Authorisation.  

The Chairman and all non-executive directors meet the independence criteria laid down in

Monitor’s Code of Governance (Provision A.3.1).  The Chairman has no other outside

interests. 
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Brief details of each director and their record of attendance at Board meetings
are shown below:

Angela Ballatti, Chairman * (9/10).
Angela joined the Trust as Chairman in May
2006 and will serve until April 2012, having
been reappointed by governors for a second
term in January 2009.  Angela was formerly
Chairman of County Durham & Darlington
Acute Hospitals NHS Trust and County
Durham & Darlington Priority Services NHS
Trust.  She is an Executive Education and
Business Management Consultant, having
previously been a senior tutor in this subject
at the University of Durham Business
School, and Vice Chairman and Trustee of
the NHS Confederation.

Gerald Sturtridge, NED, Vice-Chairman and
Chairman of the Audit Committee * # (9/10).
Gerald joined the Board in November 1998,
took over as Vice Chairman in June 2004,
and will serve until October 2010.  He
retired from accountancy practice in 1997 to
develop other business interests, is involved
with voluntary agencies working with
disabled and disadvantaged people, and is a
member of the Foundation Trust Financing
Facility committee. 

Bob Baty OBE, NED and Chairman of the
Governance Committee * + (10/10) . 
Bob joined the Board in September 2004
and will serve until April 2010 having been
reappointed by the Council of Governors for
a second term.  He is a chartered civil
engineer who has worked all his life in the
water industry and was CEO of South West
Water Ltd until 2006. He was awarded the
OBE in 2002 for services to the water
industry.

David Bishop, Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director (SID) * # (10/10)
David joined the Board in February 2005
and will serve until January 2011, having
been reappointed by governors for a second
term in January 2008.  He is a retired senior
partner of KPMG and led the strategic
financial management and governance parts
of the practice. 

John Rackstraw, NED * # + (8/10).
John joined the Board in September 2006
and will serve until July 2012, in his second
term. He spent a lifetime career in the
construction industry, with which he retains
strong links.  He also has considerable
experience of contract law relating to major
construction projects.

Brian Aird, NED * # + (9/10).
Brian joined the Board on 1 April 2008 and
will serve until 31 March 2011.  He has
considerable previous NHS experience as
Chief Executive of both Weston Park Hospital
NHS Trust and South Staffs Health Authority,
and runs his own company offering
organisational development services.  Brian
is a trustee of United Response; a national
charity providing services to people with
learning difficulties and mental health
needs.

David Wright, NED * + (9/10).
David joined the Board on 1 April 2008 and
will serve until 31 March 2011.  He spent the
majority of his career with Save the Children
UK where he was a Country Programme
Director for various areas both in the UK and
abroad.  David was also Chairman of
Swindon PCT and a non-executive director
with Wiltshire NHS Community Trust.

Me m b e r s
OF THE  BOARD OF  DIRECTORS 

14



Angela Pedder OBE, Chief Executive
(10/10). +

Angela joined the NHS in 1975 and was
Chief Executive of St Alban’s & Hemel
Hempstead NHS Trust before becoming
Chief Executive at RD&E in 1996.  Angela
was awarded the OBE in the New Year
Honours Lists 2007 for services to the NHS.

Suzanne Tracey, Director of Finance &
Business Development (9/10). +
Suzanne joined the RD&E in August 2008,
and was previously Director of Finance /
Deputy Chief Executive at Yeovil District
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

Elaine Hobson, Chief Operating Officer
(10/10). +

Elaine qualified as a nurse and has held a
number of positions at the RD&E, becoming
Director of Operations in December 2000
and Chief Operating Officer in 2008.

Lynn Lane, Director of Human Resources 
(10/10). +

Lynn joined the RD&E in July 2006 and has
over 20 years HR experience, having held
senior management positions at the BBC
and the NHS in Oxfordshire.

Marie-Noelle Orzel OBE, Director of
Nursing & Patient Care (7/8). +
Marie-Noelle joined the RD&E in 2002 and
left in February 2009.   Her professional
background is in A&E and children’s nursing.
She worked in clinical and educational roles
in London, Portsmouth and Oxford and is a
qualified aeromedical nurse and part time
member of the Royal Auxiliary Air Force.
Marie Noelle was awarded the OBE in the
Queen’s Birthday Honours List 2006 for
services to Nursing and the NHS.

Jane Viner, Acting Director of Nursing &
Patient Care (2/2) +
Following registration, Jane Viner worked in
the specialities of Emergency Medicine and
Critical Care for over 20 years. In that time
she held a number of clinical, teaching and
management posts. Most recently she has
been Nurse Consultant for Critical Care,
Associate Nurse Director and Deputy Director
of Nursing and Patient Care. Her special
interests include managing the deteriorating
patient and measuring patient experience.

Dr Vaughan Pearce and Mr Martin
Cooper, Joint Medical Directors (10/10). +
Vaughan is a consultant in the care of the
elderly and general medicine.  His special
interests include Parkinson’s disease and
dystonia. Martin was appointed as Joint
Medical Director from 1 April 2009. Martin was
appointed to the RD&E in 1988 as a
Consultant General Surgeon with an interest
in Upper GI and Breast disease.  He had
previously worked as a Lecturer and Senior
Lecturer in Bristol and spent 18 months at the
University of Chicago. In addition to his clinical
role Martin has a major interest in the
management of cancer, acting as the Clinical
Director of Cancer Services from 1995 until
taking up his current position 2009.
Regionally, he was the Medical Director of the
Peninsula Cancer Network from 2000 to 2007.

• The Directors’ Register of Interests is
available for inspection from the FT
Secretary (01392 402993) or on the Trust
website www.rdehospital
.nhs.uk/trust/ft/
documents.html 
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* indicates member of the Executive Director Remuneration Committee

# indicates member of the Audit Committee

+ indicates member of the Governance Committee

(n/n) indicates the number of Board meetings attended out of a possible total

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
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The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS

Foundation Trust has completed its

sixth successful year as an NHS

Foundation Trust.  Since it was

authorised as one of the first NHS

foundation trusts in April 2004, the

Foundation Trust sector within the NHS

has grown considerably with 120 NHS

provider organisations having achieved

the required standards.  

The RD&E has performed well in comparison

with other Foundation Trusts. During

Quarter 1, 2 and 4 the Trust maintained a

“green” rating under Monitor’s compliance

regime for mandatory services and

governance.  

This is the highest level of performance

against the regulator’s key performance

indicators.  

In Quarter 3 the governance rating reduced

to amber because the A&E 4-hour

performance dipped below the 98% target

and the Trust also flagged a possible risk of

not achieving year end Referral to Treatment

targets due to increased activity and

reduced capacity.  This risk however did not

materialise.  

Monitor’s scale for financial risk rating is 1-

5, with 1 indicating high risk of failure and 5

indicating low risk of failure.  

The Trust’s financial risk rating has been

maintained at 4 throughout the year.

The Trust’s Operational Plan for 2009/10

made progress towards achieving our

strategic aspirations, identified by members

and governors, and set out in the Board’s

approved ‘Trust Strategic Directions 2007 –

2012’. 

The five key priorities identified by our

public and staff membership as priorities for

the improvement of services provided by the

Trust were:  

• Control of infection

• Clean and tidy hospital 

• Continuing to meet national targets

• Ensuring patients get the food and

nutrition they need

• Less time waiting (whilst at the hospital).

Significant progress has been made in

addressing all elements of the plan.

During 2009/10, the Trust continued to

maintain and improve patient services

despite a number of key risks and

challenges, summarised as follows:

• Significant rises in emergency

attendances and admissions, particularly

in the last quarter of 2009/10;

D i r e c t o r s ’
STATEMENT
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• Growth in demand and increased referrals

for elective services;

• The financial position of the Trust’s main

commissioner, NHS Devon;

• Outbreaks of diarrhoea and vomiting

illnesses which are present in the wider

community are brought into hospitals,

causing ward closures to maintain high

standards of infection control and

cancellations of elective activity.

A key measure of success is the Trust’s

ability to manage these risks whilst also

continuing to deliver excellent performance

and patient care.  
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Progress made
in 2009/10:

• Achieving an ‘excellent’ rating for financial
management and ‘good’ for quality of services in the
2008/09 Healthcare Commission annual health check  

• Achieving a financial surplus of £6.8 million, just £0.2 million
below plan  

• Achieving the maximum 18 week treatment target with over 90%
of admitted patients and 98% of non-admitted patients receiving

treatment within 18 weeks of GP referral   

• Exceeding national targets with 88% of admitted patients and 95%
non-admitted patients receiving treatment within 15 weeks of GP

referral  

• Reducing waiting times for access to all modalities in medical
imaging with 95% of patients waiting a maximum waiting

time of less than 4 weeks for a routine appointment  

• A 17% in-year reduction in MRSA Bacteraemia  

• A 32% in-year reduction in
Clostridium Difficile cases.



Through sound financial planning and management the Trust has invested £18.7 million of

the surplus it has generated in new equipment and facilities to improve patient experience

and to help staff provide quality patient care.  Schemes delivered in 2009/10 include:     

• A remodelling of the main entrance to the hospital to provide better access and facilities

whilst making it more welcoming for patients

• Development of a 24-station renal dialysis unit at Heavitree Hospital

• Refurbished two operating theatres for day surgery at Heavitree Hospital

• Investment in a third linear accelerator (LINAC) for external beam radiation treatments

for patients with cancer.

Whilst ensuring the delivery of high quality services the Trust has high regard to its role as

a good corporate citizen.  During 2009/10 the Trust has developed a Carbon Reduction

Strategy reflecting the NHS commitment to reduce the 2007 carbon footprint by 10% by

2015 and has established a Sustainability Committee with leads for each of the Trust’s key

sustainability areas. 
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Regulatory
RATINGS
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Over the course of the year the RD&E has maintained a solid performance in regards

meeting Monitor’s regulatory ratings requirements. As the charts below show, the Trust’s

performance has been in line with the performance during the previous financial year. With

one exception in the third quarter in 2009/10, the Trust’s performance was in line with

expectations set out in the RD&E’s annual plan. The Trust was assigned an amber

governance risk rating, which reflects its self assessment of failure to meet the four hour

A&E wait target and a risk of failing the 18 weeks RTT (admitted) target at Q4. The Trust

will be monitored monthly against the risk declared against the 18 weeks admitted target.

Routine quarterly monitoring will apply following the A&E target failure. The risk of not

achieving the targets did not in fact materialise and the in the final quarter the Trust

returned to plan. 

Annual Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10 2009/10

Financial risk 4 4 4 4 4
rating

Governance green green green amber green
risk rating

Mandatory green green green green green
services

Annual Plan Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2008/09 2008/09

Financial risk 4 4 5 5 4
rating

Governance green green green amber green
risk rating

Mandatory green green green green green
services



The Royal Devon & Exeter’s Council of Governors has continued to evolve during the last

year. The Council has grown and developed and is now playing a more critical role in the

Trust’s governance structures. During the year the Board agreed to the proposal that the

Council of Governors undertakes a fundamental review of their role, purpose and direction.

It was agreed that after five years in existence it was timely and appropriate, particularly

with a large number of governors who were relatively new, to think afresh about how the

role might develop in a way that would help maximise their value to the Trust. This review

has taken up the primary focus of the Governor’s year and they have worked hard at making

the review process a success. 

Governors provide a key link between the interests of the communities we serve, and the

Board. Governors have been very helpful in raising pertinent questions and have focused

on issues that are particularly relevant to our members which have helped shape the way

the Trust has operated. The unique perspective provided by the Governors makes a positive

contribution to the way the Board operates. This link has strengthened over the last year

and more remains to be done to develop an approach that enables both the Council and the

Board to work together closely whilst retaining the necessary distance to ensure that the

Council holds the Board accountable. 

Public Governors have a particular responsibility to reflect the views of their constituents

into the Trust and to ensure that stakeholder interests are fully aired and considered by the

Board. It is clear that this outward looking role remains one of the most difficult issues to

address and was one of the main drivers behind the need for a review of the role of

governors. As part of the review – which will continue into the next financial year - a number

of different ways of tapping into the views and opinions of constituents will be trialled and

it is hoped that through these pilots, as well as learning from elsewhere on what works and

what doesn’t, that the Governors, with the help of the Trust secretariat, can develop some

innovative and new ways of representing the views of the communities we serve. 

Co u n c i l
OF GOVERNORS
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In addition to the Annual Members’ Meeting held in September 2009, Governors held four

general meetings this year, four development days and two meetings in conjunction with

the Board of Directors. 

Governors receive information about the Trust’s performance throughout the year, usually

by means of regular briefings from executive directors at general meetings.  In addition they

are presented with the Annual Report and Accounts each year and contribute to the Trust’s

forward planning processes.  

Further details on the work of the Governors, their development days, and links to the

membership can be found in the Governors’ Year section of this report.  Information on the

Nominations and Non-Executive Director Remuneration Committees can be found in the

Appointments and Terms of Office and Remuneration Report sections respectively.  

No governor holds directorship in a firm that does business with the Trust.  A register of

governors’ interests can be obtained from the Foundation Trust Secretary (01392 402993)

or at www.rdehospital.nhs.uk.  A list of governors in post during the reporting period and

our constituency areas is shown on pages 22-23.  Public constituency areas are co-terminus

with the local authority areas.  

If you would like to contact your governor then either call (01392) 403977 and ask for

details, or go to www.rdehospital.nhs.uk/trust/ft/governors2.html.
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Our current governors are listed below, with a brief description of their
backgrounds, expiry of office, and record of attendance at Council of Governors
meetings.  A key is on page 23.

PUBLIC CONSTITUENCY AREA: EAST DEVON, DORSET AND SOMERSET

Jean Clark (Sep 2010) 2/2

Jean lives in East Devon and is retired.  She
has wide experience of clerical work, mostly
in research departments and hospitals.  She
was also a Specialist Typist with the Civil
Service.   

Christopher D’Oyly (Sep 2011) 4/4 *

Christopher lives in Somerset but was
brought up in Exeter and Topsham.
Commanded a regiment in the Army and
worked in the City of London.

Linda Fryer (Sep 2010) 3/4 # **

Lin has worked in a variety of positions
predominantly in Health and Social Care for
the last 34 years, specialising in
management and personnel development.
She has a degree in Social Science and
Education, and a Post Graduate Certificate
in Management.

Jill Gladstone (Sep 2011) 4/4

Jill enjoyed a nursing career mainly in acute
and emergency medicine. She has an MSc
in healthcare and has published research
into drug administration errors. More
recently she established the team that
supports clinical audit in the district hospital.
Prior to retirement she worked as a nursing
adviser to the Health Service Ombudsman
and was a member of the local Research
Ethics Committee. 

Malcolm Harrington CBE (Sep 2010)
4/4 # *

Malcolm trained in hospital medicine and
then spent 30 years in academic clinical
medicine. After working at the London
School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine with
a two year secondment to the US Public
Health Service, he established the Institute
of Occupational and Environmental Medicine
in 1980 at the University of Birmingham.  He
now lives in Devon and works as a part time
consultant for industry, commerce and the
health and safety agencies. Malcolm was
appointed Deputy Chairman of the Council
of Governors in September 2009. 

Stanley White (Sep 2010) 4/4 

Stan lives in Honiton and was the financial
controller and executive administrator of a
West German charity working in India before
retirement.  He is Chairman of Abbeyfield
Honiton, Regional Treasurer of Abbeyfield
Devon and Cornwall Society, and
Trustee/Treasurer of East Devon Volunteer
Support Agency.

Linda Vijeh (Sep 2012) 2/2

Linda has lived and worked in South
Somerset for over 20 years.  She has
extensive experience in the media and
hospitality industries both in the public and
private sectors, with a particular emphasis
on customer service.  Linda also holds a
number of positions within the voluntary
sector. 

Me m b e r s
o f  ou r  Counc i l  o f  Governors
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Keith Broderick (Sep 2011) 4/4

Keith took early retirement as an accountant
from the public sector in 2005. His more
recent experience included specialising in
contract audit. Keith lives in Exeter and is a
committee member for the City of Exeter
Division of St John Ambulance.

Kate Caldwell OBE (Sep 2010) 4/4 *

Kate was Director of Midwifery and Deputy
Director of Nursing at the RD&E until 2002.
She was a Non-Executive Director of Exeter
PCT until 2006 and was Treasurer of the
Royal College of Midwives.  She is Chairman
of Exeter Municipal Charities and a member
of the Devon and Torbay Research Ethics
Committee.  

Rachel Jackson (Sep 2010) 4/4 #

Rachel was an NHS clinical physiotherapist
for 42 years and managed a large
physiotherapy service.  She holds a degree
in Science and MSc in Healthcare.  

Imraan Jhetam (Sep 2010) 4/4 

Imraan lives in Exeter.  Previously a GP and
a Police Surgeon, he now works as an
independent Section 12(2) Mental Health
Doctor.

Richard May (Sep 2012) 3/4

Richard, who lives in Exeter, is a chartered
civil engineer and latterly ran a waste
management company providing a range of
services within Exeter and the surrounding
areas.

Brian Perriss (Sep 2010) 4/4 **

Brian lives in Chudleigh. He is a retired
consultant anaesthetist who worked at the
RD&E until 2002 and was the Chairman of
the Attendance Committee. Brian now
oversees attendance for the Council of
Governors.
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* indicates membership of NED Remuneration Committee

** indicates membership of the Attendance Committee (during the year a nominated governor

was asked to take on the role of overseeing attendance and advising the Deputy Chairman

of the COG which meant that the Attendance Committee was disbanded)

(n/n) indicates the number of governor meetings attended in year (e.g. 3/4 means

3 out of 4 meetings attended)
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PUBLIC CONSTITUENCY AREA: MID NORTH WEST DEVON & CORNWALL

Martin Perry CBE (Sep 2012) 4/4 #

Martin is a political consultant living in
Northlew, outside Okehampton.  He is
widowed with three children, Chairman of
the Friends of Okehampton Hospital,
Treasurer of St Boniface RC Church, and was
awarded the CBE in 1994.

Dianah Pritchett-Farrell (Sep 2010) 4/4 

Dianah is a retired University Lecturer,
Examiner, Quality Standards Assessor in
social care and Senior Probation Officer, with
a research background in doctor-patient
communication, criminal justice, child
protection and mental health.  Dianah
represents the RD&E on the Foundation
Trust Governors Association, is Chairman of
their Communications Committee and is
active in governor research and
development nationally. 

Cynthia Thornton (Sep 2011) 4/4

Cynthia lives in Willand. She has had wide
nursing experience, including ten years as a
district nursing sister.  She has a PGCEA and
a MSc. in Care, Policy and Management and
held University teaching and research posts
in London and Reading.  Published work
focused upon Primary Health Care for People
with Learning Disabilities and Innovation
and Change in Healthcare Practice.  Cynthia
is Chairman of the Membership
Development Group. 

Dianne Pearson (Sep 2010) 1/2

Dianne worked as a company director from
1981 until the business was sold in 1998.
She then worked in Exeter for a number of
years for a variety of companies, including
a locally based property developer, a well
known company of solicitors and finally in a
private physiotherapy practice.

Paul Nielson (Sep 2012) 0/2

Paul has been a GP in Devon since 1989,
working in many GP practices and
community hospitals.  He has also worked
throughout Devon for the Out of Hours
service.  Paul currently lives in West Devon. 
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Tony Cox, Allied Health Professionals
(Sep 2011) 2/4

Tony joined the Trust in 1992 as Head of
Physiotherapy.  His current role is as
Directorate Manager for Professional
Services and Diagnostics.

Mike Jeffreys, Medical and Dental
(Sep 2012) 0/4 

Mike is Lead Clinician for Elderly Care
Medicine and has been a Consultant
Physician in Exeter since 1994.  During this
time he was a member of the Executive
Committee of the Exeter Primary Care Trust.
Previous medical training was carried out at
Guy’s Hospital London, Western Australia,
Southampton, Manchester and Cardiff.

Jason Maddocks, Hotel Services & Estates
(Sep 2012) 1/2

Jason joined the RD&E in 1991 as a Relief
Porter then transferred to the Theatre
Department as an orderly. After six years he
became a shift porter and is currently
Assistant General Services Manager
overseeing the Portering Department.

Monica Overy, Nursing and Midwifery
(Sep 2010) 3/4 *

Monica has worked as a nurse at the RD&E
for over 15 years and now works in the
Health Information Centre.

Loveday Varian, Admin, Clerical &
Managers (Sep 2012) 2/2

Loveday has worked for the NHS as a
hospital-based medical secretary for the
past thirty years. She joined the RD&E over
five years ago and is a medical secretary
within the renal team. 
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* indicates membership of NED Remuneration Committee

** indicates membership of the Attendance Committee (during the year a nominated governor

was asked to take on the role of overseeing attendance and advising the Deputy Chairman

of the COG which meant that the Attendance Committee was disbanded)

(n/n) indicates the number of governor meetings attended in year (e.g. 3/4 means

3 out of 4 meetings attended)
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APPOINTED GOVERNORS

The following people have been

appointed by the organisations listed to

serve as governors:

Cllr Bob Deed, Mid Devon District Council

(Sep 2010) 3/4

Cllr John Gill, North Devon District Council

(Jan 2013) 0/0

Cllr Peter Halse, East Devon District

Council (Jan 2013) 1/1

Mr Derek Hathaway, Devon Primary Care

Trust (Apr 2010) 3/4

Professor Mark Overton, Peninsula School

of Medicine & Dentistry# (Feb 2011) 0/4

Cllr Norman Shiel, Exeter City Council

(Aug 2011) 3/4

The following people were also

members of the Council of Governors

during 2009/10:

Public constituency area: East Devon,

Dorset & Somerset

Steve Rampersad (until May 09) 0/1 

Margaret Green (until Sept 09) 2/2

Public constituency area: Exeter & South

Devon

Andrew Webber (until Nov 09) 1/3

Public constituency area: Mid North West

Devon & Cornwall

Roger Smith (until Sept 09) 2/2

APPOINTED GOVERNORS

Cllr Sally Morgan (until May 2009) 0/1

Cllr Roy Lucas, North Devon, Teignbridge

& Torridge District Councils (until Jan 2010)

0/3

Cllr Ray Bloxham, East Devon District

Council (until May 2009) 0/1
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The following governors were elected

at the annual elections in June 2009:

PUBLIC GOVERNORS

East Devon, Dorset & Somerset 

Stan White re-elected; Linda Vijeh and

Jean Clark elected (turnout 46%)

Exeter & South Devon

Rachel Jackson and Richard May re-

elected (turnout 42%)

Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall

Martin Perry re-elected unopposed

STAFF GOVERNORS

Admin, Clerical & Managers

Loveday Varian, elected unopposed

Hotel Services & Estates

Jason Maddocks, elected unopposed

Medical & Dental

Mike Jeffreys, re-elected unopposed

As a result of vacancies left in the Mid,

North, West Devon & Cornwall

constituency following the June

elections, the following governors were

elected at a further election held in

September 2009. 

Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall

Paul Nielson and Dianne Pearson elected

(turnout 43%)

The Board confirms that all elections to the

Council of Governors are held in

accordance with the election rules as

stated in the Constitution.

Our membership now stands at 18967,

made up of 13385 public members and

5582 staff members.

Anyone aged 12 or over who lives in the

area we service, or who works for the Trust,

has the right to become a member of the

Trust.  

The three public constituencies, with

membership numbers as at 31 March 2010,

are:

• East Devon, Dorset & Somerset – 4774

• Exeter & South Devon – 5244

• Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall - 3366
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Richard May

Richard first became a publicly elected Trust

governor for the Exeter & South Devon constituency

in September 2008. 

“I wanted to serve as a governor because I wanted

to have a say in the way that the RD&E worked for

its patients and their supporters. Our aim as

governors is to maintain the RD&E as one of the

best hospitals in the country by acting as a link

between the public membership and the Board of

Directors who are responsible for running the

hospital.

“The governors are undertaking a fundamental review to see how effective they have been

in their role and what they can do to better represent those members. In order to represent

them properly we need to know what they feel about their experiences, either as patients

or carers.

“One of our biggest challenges is to communicate with our members so that we can

examine and raise matters of concern raised by them and compare these experiences with

the formal reports we receive. We are exploring new ways of improving this communication;

for example governors meeting members as they visit the hospital.” 

Dianah Pritchett-Farrell

Dianah Pritchett-Farrell is a Governor for Mid,

West, North Devon & Cornwall and has been a

part of the governing council for almost two

years. She also sits on the Foundation Trust

Governors Association.

“I have spent much of my life working with

and researching vulnerable and hard to reach

groups and individuals in the field of social

care and criminal justice. Being concerned

about their health care and aftercare, in

particular the health consequences of drug, alcohol, mental health and homelessness

problems, first inspired me to become a governor and represent my constituency.”

o v e r n o r
pro f i l e
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“Governors are here to support the Trust, to help it evolve and develop high quality health

services, and to be open, transparent and accountable to the local people it serves.  I think

it is more important then ever that Governors work cohesively as a Council of Governors

with the Board of Directors, especially when it comes to engaging more fully with

stakeholders and the local community. We are beginning to develop key partnerships across

the sector, NHS Devon and other Trusts in order to learn from one another and share

resources and ideas. 

“Over the years the Governors have continued to become more cohesive and smarter in the

questions they ask of the Board, we are working together as representatives of the local

community and it is important this sentiment is continued and developed to enhance and

meet the Trust's responsibilities for the community we serve.” 

Linda Vijeh

Linda has been an RD&E Governor for East Devon,

Dorset & Somerset since 2009. Since becoming a

governor Linda has enjoyed the opportunity to have

input into the customer care and service aspects of

the way in which the hospital operates. 

She said: “I became a governor because, as a

former patient, it was important to me to try to

understand and positively influence its operation to

ensure everyone receives the same high standard

of care that I did.

“During my time as governor I have been able to gain a tremendous amount of knowledge

about the issues and concerns facing hospitals in this challenging economic environment.

The level of support and information available to us has been impressive and I have been

pleased at the attitude of openness that exists throughout the hospital, where everyone has

the same aim; to ensure the RD&E provides the best possible health care. With

the current review of the governors’ role I see us being increasingly

important in becoming the bridge to engage with our communities,

to ensure local needs rather than national targets,

become the focus of our activities.”  
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Governors have again been very busy during the year.  In addition to their

attendance at Council of Governors meetings (full details of which can be found

on the Trust website) the Trust is grateful for governors’ attendance at a variety

of events throughout the year.  Some examples of the key contributions are

detailed below.  

Medicine for Members 

Governors contributed to the smooth

running of four very successful events held

at the RD&E.  Over 150 members heard

presentations from clinical professionals

about developments in bowel cancer, eye

care and dermatology treatment.

Governor development days 

Four development days were held during the

year, with a focus on topics such as: patient

experience, the guidance issued by Monitor

on the role of Governors in Foundation

Trusts, the Governor-led fundamental

review of the role of governors, the Trust’s

Quality Report, the development of the

Trust’s revised strategy, the Estates

strategy, the role of internal audit, public

benefit issues, the Trust’s vision and values,

and the organisation’s financial strategy. 

In addition, the Governors worked with the

Board during a joint workshop on developing

the organisation’s approach to stakeholder

engagement. The joint development day

held between the Council of Governors and

the Board of Directors focused primarily on

the revision of the Trust’s long term

strategy. 

Governor’s Steering Group

The Council of Governors agreed to establish

an interim steering group during the course

of the year. The primary purpose of the

group was to oversee and carry out the

fundamental review of governors. It is

expected that the review will make concrete

recommendations during the early part of

the next financial year.

Other events

Governors contributed to the successful

2009 RD&E Open Day and also played a

useful role at the Annual Members’ Meeting.

Go v e r n o r s ’
year
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The RD&E currently has 18,967

members made up of 13,385 public

members and 5,582 staff members.

Anyone aged 12 or over who lives in the area

we serve, or who works for the Trust, has the

right to become a member of the Trust.  

The three public constituencies, with

membership numbers as at 31 March 2010,

are:

• East Devon, Dorset & Somerset –  4,774

• Exeter & South Devon –  5,244

• Mid, North, West Devon & Cornwall - 3,366

MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT

STRATEGY

The Membership Development Group, which

reports to the Council of Governors, meets

regularly to discuss membership

engagement, and is responsible for

overseeing the workplan for membership

recruitment and activity each year. 

The Membership Development Group has

been looking at the organisation’s

relationship with its members over the last

year. The outward orientation of governors

is a critical issue and one of the drivers for

the fundamental review was to enable

Governors to enhance their relationships

with their constituents. In addition, the

focus with our members has shifted towards

improving the quality of our engagement

rather than driving up membership

numbers. We have begun to use emails and

on-line consultation during the year to see

whether this would enhance our

understanding of the views of members. We

are also placing considerable effort into

developing some more intensive

engagement activities with members during

the next financial year around the Trust’s

strategic review. The objective of this work

is to increase our insight into what matters

most to members and using this information

to inform our strategy. Over the course of

the next year the aim is to use these

experiences to give us the capability and

expertise to develop a more comprehensive

and integrated stakeholder engagement

strategy. As a result of these changes, we

decided that the constituency meetings

should be put on hold because of the

inherent difficulties in attracting members.

The intention in the future is to “piggy-back”

on other meetings that take place within the

areas we serve as a way of building our

outreach to the public including the more

difficult to reach groups such as the under

25s. The group is also keen to further

explore the relationship with Devon LINks. 

Although we have broadly maintained

membership numbers, the move to using

our limited resources on improving and

deepening the relationship with our

members over the course of the next year

places additional burdens on the governors

for recruiting new members. The

Membership Development Group is looking

into new and innovative ways of taking this

work forward. 
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Two Governors from the Membership

Development Group are also members of

the Involving People Steering Group,

ensuring a joined up approach to

engagement activities whenever possible.

Engagement of staff members continues to

be a challenge and the Fundamental Review

has highlighted a need to reflect on

engagement with staff members.  

MEMBERSHIP COMPOSITION

The Trust’s community, in particular the

North and East Devon healthcare

community from which most of our public

members are drawn, has some specific

features that shape our response to meeting

national objectives. These include: 

• A dispersed population

• Market town settlements

• Mixed rural/urban communities

• Social and economic deprivation in some

parts of North Devon, East Devon and

Exeter.          

Although the population is located around the

main towns, the area is principally rural in

character.  There are almost 490,000 people

in North and East Devon, with a higher

proportion of people over the age of 75 than

the national average, and a lower than

average population from among BME groups.  

Close monitoring of membership takes place

via the database used to capture

information supplied by members on the

application form. The information on our

database is now also regularly cleansed via

regular mailings to our members to check

the accuracy of the data we hold on them. 

Regular analysis and review of this enables

the Trust to undertake detailed demographic

analysis of the membership, and identify

where gaps exist.  An analysis was

presented at the Annual Members Meeting

in September 2009 (and subsequently to

the Board of Directors) indicated that

membership numbers are, broadly

speaking, evenly spread throughout the

three constituency areas. A more detailed

breakdown accurately reflects referral

patterns from outlying areas, with

significant numbers of members from parts

of Devon other than the three closest local

authority areas (Exeter, Mid Devon and East

Devon), and very small membership

numbers from Dorset, Somerset and

Cornwall.  Membership continues to broadly

mirror the demographics described, though

with a higher proportion in the older age

group. 

There have been no changes in electoral

ward boundaries that have affected

membership numbers.

Turnout in elections to public constituency

posts remains consistently high at around

44%.  

All employees of the RD&E are eligible to

become staff members of the Trust,

including any member of staff who is

employed by the RD&E on a permanent

contract, and anyone who has a short-term

contract of twelve months or more.
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Engagement of staff members continues to

be a challenge and this has been specifically

flagged as part of the Fundamental Review.  

Staff constituencies remain unchanged:

Medical Staff and Dentists

Nurses/Midwives (including auxiliary

nurses)

Allied Healthcare Professionals (including

scientific and technical staff)

Hotel Services and Estates

Admin & Clerical/Managers

MEMBERSHIP ENGAGEMENT

We communicate with members using a

variety of different methods, allowing

members to decide their own level of

involvement with the Trust. 

Members receive a quarterly newsletter

providing them with information about the

Trust and ways to become more involved,

including regular Medicine for Members events

and a variety of surveys.  All of these activities

will continue during 2010/11.  The Trust is

trialling a range of new initiatives for 2010/11

including a ‘Members Say!’ members-only

event combining healthcare talks and

engagement around the Trust’s strategy

review.  Plans for the year include greater

membership engagement around the Quality

Report and the Trust’s strategy review.  

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As part of the membership strategy review,

it is planned to survey members on their

view of membership.

The RD&E works closely with a wide range of

partner organisations locally, regionally and

nationally. We work with a range of NHS

partners and associated healthcare

providers including NHS Devon. The Trust

has a strong relationship with Northern

Devon NHS Trust across a number of areas

and we also share clinicians and other

resources with Taunton and Somerset NHS

Foundation Trust and South Devon

Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. We also

have a strong partnership approach with

Devon Partnership NHS Trust. The Trust also

works closely with Devon Social Services as

well as Devon County Council’s Health &

Adults Services Scrutiny Committee. 

The hospital is well connected to a wide

range of clinical networks within the region

and beyond. Clinical networks provide an

invaluable way of building expertise so that

our clinicians can provide the very best

healthcare to our patients. 
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The RD&E’s top priority is ensuring that

patients receive the highest possible

quality healthcare when accessing our

services. This commitment is

recognised in the Trust’s strong

performance against the key patient

targets. Further details on our

approach to quality healthcare and our

performance against national and local

standards are included in the Trust’s

Quality Report 2009/10.

Care Quality Commission registration

The Health and Social Care Act 2008

introduced a new, single registration system

that applies to providers of health and social

care services. The new focus for the

regulatory standards extends to patient

experience as well as policies, and on

outcomes rather than processes and

systems. 

The RD&E was awarded unconditional

registration as a provider of NHS services

under the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC)

new regulatory system. This confirmed that

the CQC had identified no issues regarding

the safety or quality of care provided at the

Royal Devon & Exeter.

Under the new system of regulation, the

RD&E will be monitored by the Care Quality

Commission to ensure that it continues to

provide safe and effective care and

treatment.  Registration is the first step in

the new system of regulation and inspection

that has given the CQC increased legal

powers to ensure the new standards are

being met in all NHS Trusts.

Quality improvements

Quality improvement initiatives are

discussed in more detail within the Trust’s

Quality Report 2009/10.

Patient Care

Patient falls
The falls steering group have developed a policy

to reduce the number of patient falls. This includes

clear guidance on falls risk assessment with

monitoring of compliance, a falls risk ward-round

that enables close monitoring of those at risk of

falling and a flagging system to ensure effective

communication about those at risk.   
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Improvements in patient & carer

information

The Carers Action Group includes a number

of carer representatives and clinical staff

representing acute and community services.

In 2009/10 the group developed a work plan

to facilitate achievement of three key

outcomes. The group led the development

of the Carers Policy. 

In order to ensure the policy reflected the

needs of carers, a survey was distributed to

carers via the East Devon Carer’s Group to

assess the expectations of clinical staff. In

addition, a survey was distributed to senior

matrons to clarify their expectations of

carers. 

The results of these surveys informed the

policy with regard to meeting the needs of

the carer and the cared for and resulted in

changes to the admission process.

The patient admission documentation did

not facilitate identification of those patients

who could be a cared for or a carer. The

Carers Action Group also led the

introduction of the carer’s assessment as

part of the patient admission process. All

patients are now routinely asked about their

status as a ‘carer’ or a ‘cared for’.  The group

also led the development and

implementation of a guideline for staff to

ensure the status of the carer or cared for is

recognised and that appropriate referrals

are made.

The information available for carers has

been standardised so that every ward has

access to the most current information

available about Care Direct and Devon

LINks. In 2010/11 this information will be

reviewed to ensure it informs the carer of

what they can expect during the hospital

stay. 



Dealing with complaints

The complaints handling process has been reviewed to incorporate the principles set out in

‘Making Experience Count’. Letters are acknowledged within 48 hours of receipt. Complaint

responses are tracked using the Datix system to ensure they are progressed promptly. The

number of cases submitted to the Ombudsman for review are monitored. A report is

presented to the Trust Board quarterly highlighting themes and trends.
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Mums-to-be set to
benefit from integrated

maternity services in Devon

To strengthen maternity services, build a strong flexible workforce

and offer improved choice of care, NHS Devon has asked the Royal Devon & Exeter

NHS Foundation Trust to take on management of maternity services in some parts of Devon.

Benefits of this arrangement include having one organisation responsible for the pathway,

women receiving the care they need where they need it, and meeting national guidelines. 

By being part of a larger health service the community staff will be able to enhance their

clinical skills and have greater personal development opportunities, which in turn should

improve staff recruitment and retention and improve the quality of care women receive.

Tracey Reeves, the RD&E’s head of midwifery services and deputy director of nursing,

said changing the management arrangements was good news for mums-to-be.

Birth centres will continue to be the main focus of maternity provision in

Tiverton, Honiton and Okehampton following the transfer of

service management.



Community theatres transfer
The running of community theatres transferred across to the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS

Foundation Trust at the end of the financial year. The benefit of this transfer from NHS Devon

to the RD&E will be increased use of community theatres at Axminster, Exmouth Tiverton and

Sidmouth. Clinical Services Manager Paul Clarkson (pictured right) said: “The transfer

arrangement will mean more local people will be able to receive their day surgery in these

strategically-placed community hospitals. Surgeons and anaesthetists from the RD&E already

run clinics and perform operations in these community hospitals. The aim is to increase the

range of procedures which can be done at these units. This is very much in line with the

Department of Health wanting more patients receiving their care closer to home. By providing

this day case surgery in the community hospitals, the acute hospital theatres at the RD&E

Wonford hospital can deliver the more complex and emergency surgical services. 

This arrangement achieves more efficient use of theatres in the area.”
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The RD&E is committed to becoming a

sustainable organisation delivering

sustainable healthcare into the future.  The

Trust recognises that climate change is the

biggest potential threat to global health in

the 21st century.  

By reducing carbon emissions the Trust will

help to play its part in the fight against

climate change and by becoming a more

sustainable organisation it will have the

potential to save money on energy,

procurement and travel.

The Trust’s carbon reduction strategy sets

out proposals for sustainable development

to bring about measurable environmental

improvements and reduce the carbon

footprint of its existing healthcare buildings

and new developments.  

In 2009/10, the Trust established a

Sustainability Committee reporting directly

to the Board and has signed up to the

Sustainable Development Commission’s

Good Corporate Citizenship Assessment

Model.  

In 2010/11 key sustainability areas will be

reviewed and carbon emissions will be

considered from all sections of the Trust’s

activities.  Ideas put forward by the staff,

patients and members of the public will be

carefully considered by the Sustainability

Committee.

The Trust has half hourly metered energy

with a consumption of more than 6,000MWh

per annum.  The RD&E will therefore

register for the The Department of Energy

and Climate Change’s new Carbon Reduction

Commitment scheme by September 2010

and begin carbon trading from April 2011.

Summary of Performance

The Trust has already reduced its energy

usage by having a combined heat and power

plant at Wonford Hospital for a number of

years.  However, there was increased

healthcare activity across the Trust in

2009/10 including the new renal dialysis

unit, two new operating theatres at

Heavitree Hospital and use of a mobile

theatre suite at Wonford Hospital.  We are

therefore pleased that the Trust’s utility

consumption of mains electricity and gas

has marginally reduced in 2009/10

compared to the previous year.   

Sustainability
& CLIMATE  CHANGE
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Future priorities and targets

The Trust faces major challenges over the

next few years to meet the NHS target of

reducing its 2007 carbon footprint by 10%

by 2015. 

The focus for 2010/11 is on the:

• Engagement and education of staff,

patients and visitors to raise sustainability

and carbon awareness 

• Use of proven technologies for energy

savings which will continue to operate

effectively for many years.  Examples of

energy efficiency schemes being

considered include heat recovery,

upgrading lighting, lighting control

systems and the feasibility of solar

renewable energy

• Waste minimisation through assessing the

feasibility of segregating additional waste

streams at ward level for recycling,

including plastics

• Review of the RD&E Travel Plan, business

travel and traffic management

• Developing policies for sustainable

procurement

• Meeting the government’s requirement to

achieve a BREEAM (Building Research

Establishment Environmental Assessment

Method) Healthcare rating of ‘Excellent’ in

new buildings and ‘Very Good’ in

refurbishments, where applicable.

The following table summarises performance:

Area Metric Metric Cost ¢G Cost ¢G

Stream Disposal 2008 2009 2008 2009

Clinical Offsite 740 tonnes 810 tonnes ¢G243,297 ¢G292,259
incineration

Domestic Compaction 654 tonnes 654 tonnes ¢G53,559 ¢G59,990
and landfill

Paper Collection 40 tonnes 45 tonnes ¢G550 ¢G660
and recycle

Confidential Shred and 60 tonnes 60 tonnes ¢G17,885 ¢G19,323
waste recycle
Cardboard Batch and 105 tonnes 115 tonnes ¢G2,513 ¢G2,513

recycle
Metals Collection 50 tonnes 50 tonnes ¢G1,180 ¢G150

and recycle

Utilities. Metric 2008/09 2009/10 2008/09 2009/10

Water Cubic metres 229,009 237,233 ¢G684,786 ¢G759,885

Electricity Kilowatt hours 16,134,400 14,553,992 ¢G1,736,595 ¢G1,271,588

Gas Kilowatt hours 45,832,819 42,824,834 ¢G1,471,901 ¢G1,065,250

Oil Litres 294,859 325,869 ¢G159,817 ¢G176,552
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Statement of Approach - Our premise is
that if we engage staff meaningfully in our
equality and diversity agenda, they will
embrace it in what they do in their working
lives. 

There are three basic strands to our
approach:

• engaging our staff

• equality assurance  

• impact assessment.

Training 

We deliver almost all of our equality training
face to face, so that we have the opportunity
to enthuse staff in relation to the importance
of equality and diversity. Equality and diversity
has a significant slot in our staff induction
programme, so it is high profile from the very
start. Our staff updates and advanced training
have been tailored to meet the needs of
different staff groups, so that we take every
opportunity to blend it into a range of work-
roles. 

Consultation 

Equality is a standing item at our staff
consultation meetings and we hold regular
informal meetings with staff-side equality
specialists. We have a group of Diversity
Leads, who champion equality in their own
work areas. The Leads’ Forum has staff from
a wide range of organisational levels, has
grown significantly over the last year and is
highly participative. For example, it has
recently decided how we can best promote
equality for gypsies and travellers who
might use our service and has reviewed the
findings of our latest equality data analysis. 

Communication 

All of our written communication about
equality are in Plain English, to maximise
engagement. The Single Equality Scheme is
often praised for its accessibility and we
have made both the intranet and internet
equality pages as user-friendly and
engaging as possible. 

‘Equality assurance’ 

Equality assurance operates in much the same
way as a quality assurance cycle. It starts by
gathering grass-root intelligence, identifies
issues arising and then incorporates these
issues into an action plan, which we update
regularly. Our grass-root intelligence involves
qualitative and quantitative data for both staff
and service users and addresses all the
requirements of the Codes of Practice. 

Eq u a l
Oppor tun i t i e s  &  d ive rs i t y
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There is a tight line of accountability for our
equality assurance process. Both of our
Director champions of equality (one
covering ‘staff issues’ and the other ‘user
equality’) take an active interest in the work
and receive regular progress reports, both
as individuals and within their role on high
level scrutiny groups. The Chief Executive is
apprised of all major equality developments
and the Board undertakes a formal annual
review of our equality work. 

Impact assessment 

Impact assessment of policies is a key way of
testing that all our activity is promoting
equality and diversity as well as possible. We
aim to impact assess every policy as it is
written or renewed, as these determine, at a 

practical level - how we go about our
business. Impact assessments are actively
supported by a full time equality specialist and
there is an audit to ensure that they are being
completed. There are currently 100 on our
website, covering every aspect of our
business.  

We aim to be as open as we can, in our
approach to equality and diversity, so
publishing outcomes and information on
work in progress is important to us. We
meet the public sector publication duties,
having published our equality scheme,
monitoring data and the results of our
impact assessments, all of which can be
found under the equality section of our
website, at www.rdehospital.nhs.uk/
trust/diversity/default.html  
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Summary of Performance 

Our Equality Data Report includes information on Trust membership and staff, and can be

found on our equality WebPages, as above. It shows all the data we collected during 2009,

what we learned from it and the actions arising.

The headline analysis of our staff and membership is given below:

The percentages above have been worked out by taking the numbers in a particular

category as a percentage of all staff, whose status in the category, is known.

Category Staff in the Staff in the Public members Public members
category 2008 category 2009 in the category in the category

2008 2009

Nos. % Nos. % Nos. % Nos. %

Age 40 2244 43% 2567 46% 4271 5% 6441 7%
and under

Having 84 2% 89 3% 2689 20% 2690 20%
Disability

Male 1335 25% 1384 25% 4177 46% 4180 46%

BME 258 6% 379 8% 215 2% 221 2%

Minority religion 53 12% 107 12% Not known

Lesbian, gay 6 1% 12 1% Not known
or bisexual 



A more detailed breakdown of staff by racial category is as follows:

2006 2007 2008 2009

Asian 62 88 99 161

Black 12 23 30 38

White not British Isles 38 75 102 148

Mixed 7 15 17 21

Other 14 13 10 11

BME 133 214 258 379

White British Isles 4385 4226 4301 4639

% BME 3% 5% 6% 8%

The Data Report benchmarks the above data and provides full analysis. It notes the growth
in the proportion of the workforce who are ethnic minority and the uncertainty over the
exact proportion of staff who have a disability, which arises because there is a much higher
proportion reported as having a disability or longstanding health issue in the staff survey.

Future priorities and targets

Our priorities for 2009/10 were agreed with the Board in November 2009 and arose largely
from our consideration of the Equality Data Report. The following table sets out priorities
and success measures.

Progress against all of the above is monitored annually by the Board and in-year by the
Workforce and Diversity Steering Group. 

Priority Success measure

Improving consultation and
communication with staff to ensure
equality and diversity is embedded
across the Trust.

Improving staff support, particularly for
those with a disability or who are of an
ethnic minority.

Enhancing the use made of data to
understand patient equality issues. 

Continuing to embed impact assessment
across the Trust. 

Developing training to raise awareness
of disability, among both patients and
staff.

1 Member data is for those age under 40.42
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Plans for staff engagement show equality is
embedded.
Equality articles are published in Trust
newsletter as appropriate.

Web page for BME staff is to be launched in
autumn 2010 and for people with a disability
in spring 2011.

There is a comprehensive suite of patient
equality data indicators in the 2010 Equality
& Diversity Board Report. 

Revised approach for impact assessment of
policies is launched in April 2010.

Bespoke training course is delivered (now
underway) and disability is embedded in
other equality training (ongoing). 



Staff engagement & staff survey

Statement of approach

The Trust is fully committed to staff
engagement across the Trust. This has been a
priority in our Staff Survey Action Plans for the
last two years and is a core part of the Human
Resource / Organisational Development
strategy for the Trust. To take this forward the
Board agreed a staff engagement strategy for
the Trust in March 2010. 

The importance of staff engagement is
enshrined in the NHS Constitution which
pledges to involve staff, setting out their
rights and responsibilities. We believe that
engaged staff have higher morale, are more
productive and will deliver improved patient
care.  

The Trust has already demonstrated
excellent examples of good practice in fully
involving staff which include the ‘Productive
Ward and Theatres’ initiatives, Nurse and
Midwifery shift patterns, and Ward
Relocation last year.  The ongoing Effective
Manager and Customer Care programmes
also reinforce the importance of
engagement of staff at all levels.  

In order to improve Trust-wide communication
and encourage greater involvement, we are
implementing a Trust-wide strategy for Staff
Engagement for 2010 -2011.

Through the Executive Sponsor a small
project planning group across HR, 
Communications, Service Improvement, and
Staff Side is being established.

Summary of performance – results
from Staff Survey

In 2009 the RD&E, as part of its staff

engagement strategy, undertook a full

census survey of its staff for the second year

and is using this material to track progress

across the Trust and within individual

departments.  The response rate was 51%.

Staff were asked if they would

recommend the Trust as a place to work

or receive treatment. Our score was

significantly higher than the national

average and we are in the top 20% of

Trusts for this finding

78% of staff respondents felt valued by

their colleagues and more staff were

using flexible working options

71% of staff respondents have received

appraisals this year, (compared to 66%

last year) and more staff have had

Personal Development Plans (60%

compared to 55% in 2008)  

We are in the top 20% of Trusts for

Equality and Diversity Training, which

has improved from 28% to 52%.   
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Action Plans to address areas of concern

The Trust identified a range of priorities from last year including staff engagement,

communication, health and safety, flexible working and appraisal. The attached summary

of performance shows the top and bottom ranking scores from the national CQC survey of

a 15% sample. We have compared this with our full staff survey as there is a variation due

to the fact that our full Survey had responses from over 50% of our staff whereas the CQC

results are based on approximately 7% of our staff.  For all areas including the bottom

rankings we have seen an improvement in our full staff survey position, though in two areas

we are below the national average.

Key findings in national survey

Staff agreeing that their role makes a difference to patients (86% - deteriorated by 3%)

Full staff survey remained same as 2008 at 88%

Staff agreeing that they understand their role and where it fits in (40% - deteriorated by

5%) Full staff survey improved from 42% to 44%

Staff feeling satisfied with the quality of work and patient care they are able to deliver

(Improved by 3%) Full staff survey improved from 68% to 71%

Staff suffering work related injury in past 12 months (19% deteriorated by 1%) Full staff

survey improved from 17% to 16%
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Future priorities and targets

Implementation of the Staff Engagement

Strategy is a priority across the Trust.

A Staff Engagement Action Plan for

2010/11 has been developed from best

practice across NHS Employers and

other guidance and research material

We are introducing ‘Staff Conversation’

events for Trust-wide issues and local

level issues.  Staff will feel more listened

to, valued, and able to influence and

own changes in their teams, service

areas, and Trust-wide 

In consultation with the Joint Staff

Forum and the Joint Staff Consultative

and Negotiating Committee we have

revised our Staff Involvement Policy

and are developing a range of methods

for internal two way communication

processes across the Trust using team

briefings, staff conversations and IaN

intranet

The survey also highlighted areas for

improvement.  Communication between

staff and senior managers is still a priority

area and staff need to better understand

their role and where it fits in and have more

opportunities to be involved in decisions that

affect them.

Managing sickness absence

Sickness Absence Group

A recent Government review highlighted

how early employer intervention can

succeed in staff returning to work from

sickness.  Prompt access to support and

treatment is valued by staff and can reduce

the impact on their health. During the year

2007/8 our sickness absence rate for the

RD&E was 4.25%.   During the last year our

sickness absence rate for the RD&E was

4.66%. This is higher than the rate recorded

for the previous twelve months but reflects

the flu pandemic last winter. 

At the RD&E we take the health and well

being of our staff seriously and as such have

established a sickness absence group.

Improved data collection via ESR has

enabled the group to identify staff with long,

medium and short term illness.  Staff with

long-term health issues are supported by

Human Resources in conjunction with

Occupational Health and individual

managers to resume their normal working

life. The HR department is supporting senior

managers to identify short and medium

term sickness issues early which, if not

tackled, can develop into long term

sickness.  Managers are given strategies to

help staff back into work at the earliest

opportunity.
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Health and wellbeing 

Our staff survey in 2007/8 identified work

related stress as an issue for our staff.  In

response to this a Stress Management

Group was set up which has since developed

into a generic Health and Well Being group.

Recent staff surveys show that we are now

in the top performing 20% of Trusts with

regard to staff suffering stress.  This group

is presently establishing a health and well

being strategy based on the latest Boorman

recommendations

We encourage our staff to lead healthy

lifestyles by promoting a range of health

initiatives throughout the year.  The

Government backed ‘Cycle to Work’ initiative

has proved particularly successful with more

than 250 employees taking advantage of the

scheme in the past year.  We will be

exploring new ways to support and inform

colleagues on health prevention and

protection. The Trust Health and Safety

Action Plan includes relevant legislation, the

new Health & Safety Executive targets and

best practice, as well as specific issues

highlighted through incident reporting and

risk assessments in areas such as slips, trips

and falls, manual handling, conflict

resolution and security.

Health and Safety

Health and Safety is a key component of the

Trust’s Risk Management Strategy which

aims to ensure the safety of staff, patients

and visitors to the Trust. The Trust’s annual

health and safety work plan is overseen by

the Health and Safety Committee. In

2009/10 the committee has paid particular

attention to embedding a culture of incident

reporting and learning through a process of

targeted training and general awareness

rising. This has resulted in a 15% increase in

the number of incidents being reported in

year and a very positive report from the

National Patient Safety Agency. 

The aim of this work is to reduce the number

of serious untoward incidents involving

patients and staff. Any serious incidents are

subject to Root Cause Analysis (RCA). RCA is

a retrospective review of a serious incident

undertaken in order to identify what, how

and why the incident occurred. The analysis

is then used to identify changes to systems

and processes that will reduce the likelihood

of a re-occurrence of the incident. The

implementation of recommendations is

monitored by the Adverse Events Forum. In

order to be effective, an RCA has to be

conducted quickly and appropriately and the

Trust has invested in training suitable staff to

lead RCA.  
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Ensuring the provision of a safe environment

for patients, visitors and staff is a diverse

and key aspect of the work of the Health and

Safety Committee. Work this year has

included; the introduction of 24/7 on site

security cover, ensuring that moving and

handling training is provided as part of staff

induction in all ward areas and a

comprehensive review and risk assessment

of the processes for managing waste,

resulting in the introduction of a new system

for the segregation of waste.

Occupational Health (OH)

Boorman Report

The Boorman Report, NHS Health and

Wellbeing, commissioned by the

Government was published in November

2009. The report focuses on the health and

wellbeing of NHS staff and the Trust Health

and Wellbeing Agenda is being reviewed in

line with its recommendations. The report

advocates early intervention for staff with

mental health and musculo-skeletal

problems, recognising the benefits to the

individual and to the NHS of keeping people

at work.  The OH service is looking at how

these recommendations can be delivered in

a cost effective manner.

Physiotherapy pilot

A pilot physiotherapy service providing early

access and advice for employees ran from

January to June 2009.  The pilot highlighted

potential benefits by maintaining attendance

at work and reducing absence, both of which

impact on patient care. Sickness absence

costs avoided were approximately five times

the cost of providing the service, in line with

Boorman Report economic modelling. The

Trust is currently considering the case for

establishing this service on a permanent

basis.

Vaccination

In line with Department of Health

guidelines, H1N1 (swine flu) vaccinations

were offered to priority staff groups from

October 2009. 42% of staff in the priority

groups were vaccinated, which was

comparable to other Trusts.  The campaign

to vaccinate all staff against swine flu

continues and the seasonal flu vaccine in

autumn 2010 will contain H1N1. Uptake for

seasonal flu amongst staff increases year on

year and this year 14% staff took advantage

of the vaccination scheme offered by OH. 
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The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

are appointed by the Council of Governors

(COG) acting on the recommendation of the

Nominations Committee, which is a

committee of the COG.  Membership of the

committee can be found in the Governors

section on page 20-30.  Prior to the

appointment of a Non-Executive Director,

the Board and the COG undertake a review

of the ‘Policy for the Composition of NED on

the Board’ to ensure the necessary mix of

skills and experience on the Board is

achieved. 

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

are initially appointed for three-year terms,

as approved by the COG.  Reappointment

for a further three-year term can be made,

subject to satisfactory appraisal and the

approval of the Governors.  Consideration of

extension beyond six years is subject to

rigorous review, in line with the agreed

processes.

NED employment may be terminated on

performance grounds or for contravention of

the qualification criteria in our Constitution,

by a three quarters majority of the

governors voting at a governors’ meeting, or

by mutual consent for other reasons.

The Nominations Committee met during the

year, to consider a second term as Non-

Executive Director for Mr Rackstraw. The

Council of Governors agreed to the

recommendation of the Committee to agree

a second term for Mr Rackstraw. 

During the course of the last year Mr Baty

moved his main residence which meant that

he was no longer eligible to be a member

and was required to stand down as a Board

member. Mr Baty agreed to continue with

his appointment until such time as a

replacement NED could be appointed. As Mr

Sturtridge reaches the end of his term in

October 2010, it was agreed that the

Nominations Committee would seek to

appoint two new NEDs to replace both Mr

Baty and Mr Sturtridge. 

This recruitment process was conducted

successfully and two new NEDs will join the

RD&E Board from May 2010 and October

2010 respectively. 

No m i n a t i o n s
COMMITTEE ,  APPOINTMENTS &  
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TERM OF  OFFICE
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Expiry dates of current terms of office are as

follows:

Ms Ballatti 30 April 2012

Mr Aird 31 March 2011 

Mr Baty 31 August 2010

Mr Bishop 31 January 2011

Mr Rackstraw 31 July 2012

Mr Sturtridge 31 October 2010 

Mr Wright 31 March 2011 

Executive Directors are appointed in

accordance with the Trust’s constitution. An

appointments committee comprising the

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

select the Chief Executive and the

appointment is ratified by the Council of

Governors. An appointments committee of

the Chairman, Non-Executive Directors and

the Chief Executive appoint the Executive

Directors. It is the Trust’s normal practice to

appoint a professional assessor to advise the

appointments committee.

All appointments within the Trust are based

on merit and follow human resource

management best practice to ensure

compliance with all statutory responsibilities

in this field. All Executive Directors have

annual appraisals, the outcome of which is

considered by the Executive Director

Remuneration Committee. The Executive

Directors all hold permanent pensionable

contracts and notice periods are included on

the Remuneration Report on page 52.

APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE



Induction programmes are arranged for all

newly appointed Directors and Governors

which include the provision of information

necessary to enable them to perform their

function.  

An annual programme of events to facilitate

Director and Governor development is in

place. These programmes are supplemented

by individual externally facilitated

development opportunities linked to

Directors’ personal development plans and

their agreed objectives. 

The business of the Trust is conducted in an

open manner and annual schedules of

meetings for the Board of Directors and

Council of Governors are published twelve

months in advance. 

To ensure the availability of timely and

accurate information about the performance

of the Trust, a schedule of routine reports to

be presented throughout the year is

maintained.  

The appropriateness of its content is

reviewed regularly to ensure information

needs are met on an ongoing basis.

The Trust has a publication scheme

contained within its website, which provides

access to a wide range of information.

Directors and Governors may appoint

advisors to provide additional expertise on

particular subjects if required.

In f o r m a t i o n
& DEVELOPMENT &  PERFORMANCE 

50

INFORMATION & DEVELOPMENT



EVALUATION
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Appropriate arrangements are in place to

ensure the appraisal of the Executive

Directors and the Non-Executive Directors.

The Chief Executive is appraised by the

Chairman, with the outcome reported to the

Executive Director Remuneration Committee

(EDRC). The Chief Executive appraises the

Executive Directors, with outcomes also

reported to the EDRC. Personal development

plans are agreed for all Executive Directors.  

The outcome of Non-Executive Director

appraisals (carried out by the Chairman) are

reported to the Nominations Committee

when considering re-appointment, and

routinely reported annually to the

Governors.  The process for the appraisal of

the Chairman is led by the Senior

Independent Director and is also reported to

the Council of Governors.  

The Council of Governors have led a

fundamental review of Governors role

during the course of the year and this review

is ongoing and will report in the early part

of the next financial year. 

The purpose of the review is to clarify the

role of governors and identify ways in which

the governors can maximise their

contribution to the Trust. The review has

taken stock of the performance of the COG

to date over the last few years, good

practice from other Foundation Trusts as

well as developing an understanding of the

views of individual governors through a

consultation exercise. This work which has

been led by governors is beginning to

identify recommendations which are being

discussed directly with the Chairman and

two Non-executive Directors so that an

agreement can be reached on reforms to the

constitution and ways of working which can

then be implemented during the next

financial year. 

Attendance at Council of Governors

meetings is overseen by a governor who

acts as attendance officer.   

PERFORMANCE EVALUATION



Only Board-level Executive and Non-

Executive Directors have locally agreed

remuneration packages.  For all other staff

except doctors, remuneration is set in

accordance with NHS Agenda for Change

(AfC).  Pay and conditions of service for

doctors is agreed at a national level.  

Director remuneration

The Trust believes that to attract and

motivate directors of the required quality

and to run the Foundation Trust successfully

their remuneration must be fair and

sufficient to achieve this.  Details of the

operation of the two Trust remuneration

committees are described below, along with

information on Executive Director contracts.

Actual remuneration figures for all directors

may be found on pages 80-81.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Committee

The Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Committee (NEDRC) comprises five elected

governors and is chaired by the Deputy

Chairman, Council of Governors. For details

of governor members of the NEDRC see

pages 22-24.  

Recommendations for any changes to

remuneration for the Chairman and other

Non-Executive Directors are made by the

NEDRC for consideration by the Council of

Governors at a general meeting. NEDRC

held meetings in Spring 2009 to review the

levels of remuneration and made

recommendations to the meeting of the

Council of Governors in July 2009. Following

a detailed discussion the Council of

Governors decided to award increases in

remuneration to the Chairman and Non-

Executive Directors reflecting increases in

the cost of living only. The Committee have

embarked on an exercise to develop an

Executive pay policy to cover remuneration

and other benefits and this work is ongoing.

Full details of Chairman and Non-Executive

Director remuneration are set out in the

Accounts on pages 80-81.

Executive Director Remuneration

Committee

The Executive Director Remuneration

Committee (EDRC) is chaired by the

Chairman and consists of the Non-Executive

Directors.  The committee’s main purpose is

to set rates of remuneration and conditions

of service for the Chief Executive and the

other Executive Directors.  In 2009/10,

Executive Directors received the cost of

living uplift, as awarded to other NHS staff.

Full details of Executive Director

remuneration are set out in the Accounts on

pages 80-81.  

Re m u n e r a t i o n
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The Trust does not operate a system of

performance-related pay for any staff.  NHS

Pension Scheme provisions apply to all

Executive Director posts, with the level of

employer contribution determined

nationally.  Executive Directors are on

permanent pensionable contracts, subject to

standard NHS terms and conditions of

service and their current notice periods are:

Chief Executive 12 months

Chief Operating Officer 3 months

Director of Finance and 6 months
Business Development

Director of Human 6 months
Resources

Director of Nursing 3 months
& Patient Care

Medical Directors* 3 months

*The Medical Directors are on permanent clinical

contracts with the Trust.  This period relates to the

Medical Director appointment only. 

Elaine Hobson is a Governor at Exeter

College. No Executive Director holds a Non-

Executive Director portfolio in another

organisation. 

Attendance by the Chairman and Non-

Executive Directors at EDRC meetings held in

2009/10 was:  Ms Ballatti, 5/5 meetings, Mr

Aird 5/5, Mr Baty 4/5, Mr Bishop 4/5, Mr

Rackstraw 4/5, Mr Sturtridge 4/5, Mr Wright

5/5. 

Salary, Pension and other information

A full declaration of salary, benefits in kind,

real increase in pension and related lump

sum at age 60, total accrued pension and

cash equivalent transfer values are stated in

full on pages 80-81.  The total of salaries,

allowances and non-cash benefits in kind

paid to Non-Executives Directors and senior

managers for this and the previous year are:

2008/09           2009/10

£1,035k             £1,072k

There have been no significant awards or

compensation to past senior managers, nor

any payments to third parties for the

services of a senior manager.

Signed:

A M PEDDER, OBE

Chief Executive

4 June 2010



The Code of Governance published in

September 2006 contains recommended

best practice to be followed by FTs in areas

of corporate governance.  The Code contains

main and supporting principles, and 74 code

provisions which are subject to ‘comply’ or

‘explain’ reporting procedures. Any

provisions with which the Trust does not

comply must be disclosed in the Annual

Report. The Code of Governance can be

viewed on Monitor’s website at:

www.monitor.nhsft.gov.uk/publications

The compliance action plan agreed by the

Board in March 2009 contained a number of

actions for completion by 31 March 2010.

The aim was that by 31 March 2010 the

Trust would be as compliant as possible with

the code provisions, except for those which

the Board agreed to declare under the

‘explain’ category.

Considerable progress was made against the

previous compliance action plan, as reported

in the 2007/08 and 2008/09 Annual

Reports. 

The following provisions are declared 

C.2.1 Terms of office not exceeding 5

years for Chief Executive and Executive

Directors

Approval by the board of governors of the

appointment of a chief executive should be

a subject of the first general meeting after

the appointment by a committee of the

chairman and non-executive directors. Re-

appointment by the non-executive directors

followed by re-approval by the board of

governors thereafter should be made at

intervals of no more than five years. All

other executive directors should be

appointed by a committee of the chief

executive, the chairman and non-executive

directors and subject to re-appointment at

intervals of no more than five years.

Explanation: Current EDs are on

permanent pensionable contracts which are

legally binding. The Board considers that the

existing appraisal process is sufficient to

initiate removal if required.  It also feels that

a 5-year fixed term could prove difficult if

early removal was required.

D.2.2 (CoG) 

Led by the Chairman, the CoG should

periodically assess their collective

performance and should regularly

communicate to members details on how

they have discharged their responsibilities,

including their impact and effectiveness on: 

• advising the board on the forward plans

of the NHS foundation trust; and

• communicating with their member

constituencies and transmitting their

views to the board of directors.

The board of governors should use this

process to review its roles, structure,

composition and procedures, taking into

account emerging best practice.

Explanation: WORK IN PROGRESS. The

Fundamental Review of Governors is a

comprehensive review of the roles,

structures, compositions and procedures of

Co m p l i a n c e
WITH THE  CODE OF  GOVERNANCE
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the COG based on an evaluation of its

performance, on lessons learned and best

practice. The Review will make

recommendations for appropriate changes to

the role of Governors in line with the

Constitution and monitor guidance. The

Fundamental Review is currently on schedule

and has a robust action plan for formal report

with recommendations by July 2010

E.1.1 Performance-related pay

Any performance-related elements of the

remuneration of executive directors should

be designed to align their interests with

those of patients, service users and

taxpayers and to give these directors keen

incentives to perform at the highest levels.

In designing schemes of performance-

related remuneration, the remuneration

committee should follow the following

provisions: 

(i) The remuneration committee should

consider whether the directors should be

eligible for annual bonuses. If so,

performance conditions should be relevant,

stretching and designed to match the long

term interests of the public. Upper limits

should be set and disclosed. 

(ii) Payouts or grants under all incentive

schemes, should be subject to challenging

performance criteria reflecting the

objectives of the NHS foundation trust.

Consideration should be given to criteria 

which reflect the performance of the NHS

foundation trust relative to a group of

comparator trusts in some key indicators. 

(iii) In general, only basic salary should be

pensionable. 

(iv) The remuneration committee should

consider the pension consequences and

associated costs to the NHS foundation trust

of basic salary increases and any other

changes in pensionable remuneration,

especially for directors close to retirement

Explanation: Not applicable - The Trust

does not operate a system of performance

related pay or bonuses.

E.2.2 Definition of senior management

Remuneration committee should have

delegated responsibility for setting

remuneration for all executive directors,

including pension rights and any

compensation payments. The committee

should also recommend and monitor the

level and structure of remuneration for

senior management. The definition of ‘senior

management’ should be determined by the

board but should normally include the first

layer of management below board level.

Explanation: The Board has defined ‘senior

management’ to be limited to Board

members only.  All other staff to be

covered by Agenda for Change.



1.0 Scope of responsibility

1.1 As Accounting Officer, I have
responsibility for maintaining a sound
system of internal control that supports the
achievement of the NHS Foundation Trust’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and
departmental assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned to me. I am
also responsible for ensuring that the NHS
Foundation Trust is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively. I also
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting
Officer Memorandum.

2.0 The purpose of the system of
internal control

2.1 The system of internal control is
designed to manage risk to a reasonable
level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure
to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The
system of internal control is based on an
ongoing process designed to: 

• identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and
objectives of the Royal Devon & Exeter
NHS Foundation Trust.

• evaluate the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact should they
be realised, and to manage them
efficiently, effectively and economically.

2.2 The system of internal control has
been in place in the Royal Devon & Exeter
NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31
March 2010 and up to the date of approval
of the Annual Report and Accounts.

3.0 Capacity to handle risk

3.1 The Governance Committee
(committee of the Board of Directors) is
chaired by a non-executive director and
provides leadership to the risk management
process. The work of the Governance
Committee is supported by a number of
subcommittees that are responsible for
monitoring and managing specific types of
risk. The Significant Events Forum is chaired
by a consultant clinical lead and reviews all
Route Cause Analysis of adverse incidents,
clinical audits and mortality and morbidity
reviews. The NPSA Alerts Working Party is
chaired by the Medical Director and ensures
the timely implementation of alert
notifications.  Other specialist committees,
led by director or senior clinicians include: 

• Medical Devices Groups 

• Medicines Management Group 

• Medical Gases Group 

• Radiation Protection Group 

• Infection Control Committee

• Clinical Audit and Effectiveness
Committee 

• Drugs and Therapeutics Committee. 

St a t e m e n t
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3.2 The Trust maintains a comprehensive
Risk Register covering both clinical and
organisational risks. Individual risks are
assigned to an appropriate executive lead
and manager who are responsible for
ensuring that the risk is either eliminated or
managed appropriately. Support and
appropriate training in risk management are
provided by the Risk Management
Department. Specialist functions also exist
to manage various agendas. These include:

• Head of Patient Governance 

• Risk Manager

• Fire, Infection Control and Radiation
Advisors

• Occupational Health Physician and Health
Advisors

• Governance Support Unit providing
clinical audit and research ethics advice

• Trust Solicitor

• Complaints department

• Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)

• Security Management Specialist  

• Head of Information Governance. 

3.3 Staff are trained and equipped to
manage risk in a way appropriate to their
authority and duties. Risk management is
included in the Trust’s mandatory training
programme. Training is provided to staff at
both corporate and local induction and as
part of follow up refresher training. The
training courses are run on a regular basis
and provide staff with the skills needed to
undertake risk management duties. 

3.4 The training is underpinned by policies
and procedures and feedback from audits,
inspections and incident reporting. Included
within this is the sharing of good practice
and learning from incidents. The Trust
Adverse Events Forum ensures that learning
is shared across the organisation. The
Governance Support Unit coordinates the
root cause analysis investigations of adverse
incidents and the learning points are made
available to all relevant staff.   

3.5 Policies and procedures are updated
on a regular basis to offer a benchmark to
the Trust on how to manage risk. Some of
these policies, specifically the risk
management strategy, risk assessment
policy and procedure and the incident and
investigation policy and procedure, also
inform external stakeholders on the Trust
position in these areas. 



3.6 The Audit Committee is a non-
executive committee of the Board of
Directors and reviews the establishment and
maintenance of an effective system of
integrated governance across the whole of
the Trust’s activities that supports the
achievement of the Trust’s objectives.
Specifically, the Committee reviews the
adequacy of:  

• all risk and control related disclosure
statements together with the Head of
Internal Audit statement and external audit
opinion prior to endorsement by the Board

• reviews and approves the annual accounts 

• reviews and approves the annual audit plans 

• the polices for assuring compliance with
relevant regulatory, legal and code of
conduct requirements

• the policies and procedures for all work
related to fraud and corruption as
required by the counter fraud and 
security management service 

• the Trust’s self assessment process for
assessing compliance with Standards for
Better Health for the period April 2009 to
March 2010  

• the requirement for the chairs of the Audit
Committee and the Governance
Committee to meet no less than three
times per year and ensure that the
agendas are aligned and there are no
gaps in assurance between the two Trust
Board subcommittees forms part of the
committees terms of reference.      

4.0 The risk and control framework

4.1 The risk management strategy clearly
sets out the processes for identifying and
managing risks. It incorporates a standard
methodology in which risk is evaluated using
a likelihood-consequence matrix. The roles
and responsibilities of staff in managing risk
are defined and key posts highlighted. The
strategy also includes the governance
reporting structure and the terms of
reference of the Governance Committee and
all the committees reporting to the
Governance Committee.

4.2 The Trust has established directorate
level risk registers which feed into the Trust
risk register. At directorate level, the risk
registers contain low level localised risks
that can be managed by the relevant
directorate. The Trust risk register contains
the higher level risks and Trust wide risks.
This ensures that risks are identified,
managed and escalated appropriately at all
levels of the organisation. All areas of the
hospital have trained Risk Management
Officers and the Risk Management
Department carries out annual checks to
ensure that risk assessments are being
completed accurately and acted upon.
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4.3 All the directorates have their own
Governance Groups which meet regularly. In
2009, the Trust invested in establishing
Governance Coordinators posts to support
the directorates in implementing robust
governance processes. Each directorate
provides quarterly reports to the Board of
Directors, via the Governance Committee,
on all aspects of governance.  

4.4 The Board has approved an assurance
framework, which reflects the Trust strategic
objectives and key priorities. The assurance
framework and the Trust risk register are
reviewed quarterly by the Governance
Committee. Any gaps in controls or
assurance are highlighted and reported to
the Board of Directors. Risks to the Trust’s
strategic objectives that can not be
immediately eliminated are placed on the
risk register and action plans put in place to
address any gaps.

4.5 The assurance framework is split into
a number of areas that include the
regulatory, national, local and commissioner
issues. These are:

• Monitor

• Healthcare Standards

• Strategic directions

• National and local targets

4.6 Primary Care Trust consultations on
the wider aspects of risk (for example
access risk issues) are undertaken through
regular monthly contract management
meetings.

4.7 Planning risk issues are discussed with
the local authorities via overview and
scrutiny committees. The Trust also involves
the media in matters relating to
communication with the public. An example
would be in managing the risks around
infection outbreaks.

4.8 Quarterly Council of Governor
meetings are also held to discuss all aspects
of Trust business, including risks, in meeting
local and national targets.

4.9 The Trust has formal structures in
place for the management of information
governance and data security in the form of
an Information Governance Committee and
Security Forum. The Information Security
Forum is chaired by the Trust’s Caldicott
Guardian and deals with all aspects of
information security and data confidentiality.
Risks to information security are reported
directly to the Information Governance
Committee, chaired by the Director of
Finance and Business Development, and
recorded on the Trust’s information risk
register. The Director of Finance and
Business Development is the Trust’s
nominated Senior Information Risk Owner
and takes overall responsibility for
information security risk management. 
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4.10 The Trust annually assesses its
compliance with information governance
standards using the Department of Health
information governance toolkit. In 2009, the
Trust enhanced its assurance processes by
purchasing two audits, by external
independent companies, on information
security and early in 2010, Internal Audit
provided further assurance on the Trust’s
submission on the key requirements of
aspects of the information governance tool
kit. Following these audits, an action plan
was drawn up and completed. 

4.11 Security of information is underpinned
by a comprehensive set of policies and
procedures specifically designed to reduce
the risk of loss or inappropriate disclosure of
personal information. All new induction staff
and existing staff attending mandatory
information governance training are
provided with a copy of all relevant policies
on CD and sign an acceptance and
agreement to undertake to read all policies
contained therein. All laptops and data
sticks provided by the Trust are encrypted.
All information governance incidents are
reported via the Information Governance
Committee. 

4.12 The Trust is fully compliant with the
core Standards for Better Health.  

5.0 Pensions

5.1 The Trust is an employer of staff
entitled to membership of the NHS Pension
Scheme. Control measures are in place to
ensure all employer obligations contained
within the Scheme regulations are complied
with. 

This includes ensuring that deductions from
salary, employer’s contributions and
payments in to the Scheme are in
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that
member pension scheme records are
accurately updated in accordance with the
timescales detailed in the Regulations.  The
payroll system was audited by Internal Audit
in December 2009 /January 2010. 

6.0 Equality and Diversity 

6.1 Control measures are in place to
ensure that the organisation’s obligations
under equality, diversity and human rights
are complied with.  Equality and diversity
training is delivered to staff right from
induction and is followed up with subsequent
staff updates.  Advanced training is tailored
to meet the needs of different staff groups.
The need for equality and diversity
awareness is explicit in all job outlines.  

6.2 The Trust’s Single Equality Scheme
outlines our strategy for delivering equality
and diversity, including a detailed action
plan which is updated annually. This is
informed and developed through a
comprehensive consultation plan with both
staff and users. The Single Equality Scheme
spells out a zero tolerance approach to any
breach of respect and dignity, a core
principle which is reinforced in all Trust
policies. 
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6.3 There are a full range of policies,
processes and training to ensure protection
of vulnerable adults and children, to protect
staff from abuse and for the prevention of
bullying and harassment. In addition,
guidance and procedures are published to
meet individual spiritual and cultural needs
and support end of life care. This is all
underpinned with comprehensive intranet
information and mandatory training. 

6.4 Impact assessment is used to ensure
that our activity is effectively promoting
equality and diversity.  Every policy is
impact assessed, as this determines, at a
practical level, how we go about our
business. The Organisational Development
Strategy and the work plan arising out of the
Involving People Steering Group prioritises
staff and user engagement and focuses on
involvement across all 6 strands of diversity. 

7.0 Review of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources 

7.1 Internally, overall performance is
monitored at the monthly meetings of the
Board of Directors. Operational manage-
ment and the coordination of Trust services
is delivered by the Trust Executive, which
comprises the executive directors and
clinical directors. Performance of individual
clinical and support divisions is monitored
informally on a monthly basis and formally
on a quarterly basis via the quarterly review
process.

7.2 I can confirm that the Trust complies
with the cost allocation of and charging
requirements set out in H M Treasury and
Office of Public Sector Information guidance.
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8.0 Annual Quality Report 

8.1 The directors are required under the
Health Act 2009 and the National Health
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010
to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance
to NHS foundation trust boards on the form
and content of annual Quality Reports which
incorporate the above legal requirements in
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual. 

8.2. The Quality Report provides a
balanced view of the quality of the services
we provide as a Trust. The Director of
Nursing has overall responsibility for the
production of the Quality Report; consulting
with the Board of Directors on the key issues
to include in the report and the approach
taken. Quality performance measures and
the content of the Quality Report have also
been influenced through consultation with
external partners. The Trust has consulted
with its members, patients and Governors
on quality issues as well as seeking the
views of the Oversight and Scrutiny
Committee, LINKs Devon and NHS Devon
Primary Care Trust. The Board have taken
the view that openness and transparency in
highlighting relative performance on quality
issues will give the public solid information
on the quality of healthcare. Transparency
and openness will also help drive up quality
and help engage clinicians who are on the
frontline in quality improvement. The
Quality Report summaries the Trust’s
approach to ensuring the provision of high
quality clinical services which it seeks to
embed throughout the hospital. The data
used in the quality report is validated using
the same processes that apply to all Trust
performance data.

9.0 Review of effectiveness

9.1 As Accounting Officer, I have
responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness
of the system of internal control. My review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive
managers within the NHS Foundation Trust
who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control
framework, and comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter
and other reports. 

9.2 There are a number of further areas of
work that have been included in my review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. These include:

• Annual health check evidence gathering
for core Standards for Better Health

• Self assessment against the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) Essential Standards for
Quality and Safety (reviewed by internal
audit)

• Achievement of CNST level 2 accreditation
for its maternity services

• Maintenance of CNST level 1 accreditation
for all other services

• Performance monitoring by the Board of
Directors of strategic directions and
operational  milestones to achieve internal
and external targets 

• Results of the national patient and staff
survey  

• Completion of the health & safety action
plan

• The Trust’s compliance with the Hygiene
Code has been reviewed by the CQC

• The Trust’s application for registration with
the CQC was accepted without condition. 
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9.3 Key stakeholders have advised me on
achievement of both national and locally
agreed targets. These stakeholders include:

The Board of Directors - Executive and
non-executive strategic management of all
Trust objectives

The Audit Committee - Reviews the
effectiveness of the systems of integrated
governance

The Governance Committee - Provides
leadership on the risk management process

Internal Audit - Provides independent
assurance on issues examined and agreed
on the annual audit plan

External Audit - Provides external
independent assurance on the financial
framework, internal audit function and risk
management function of the Trust.

9.4 I have been advised on the
implications of the result of my review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal
control by the Board of Directors, the Audit
Committee and Governance Committee and
a plan to address weaknesses and ensure
continuous improvement of the system is in
place.

9.5 My review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control has been
presented and approved by the Board of
Directors. The Board and the Audit and
Governance Committees have been kept
informed of progress against action plans
throughout the year. 

The assurance framework includes plans to
address any gaps in control or assurance in
order to ensure that continuous
improvement of the system is in place.

9.6 Internal Audit has examined the
assurance framework for the Trust and has
agreed that it is satisfactory. The Board of
Directors will review the process on a
quarterly basis and regular reports are given
to the Audit and Governance Committees.
The Trust’s position against the core
Standards for Better Health and the CQC
Essential Standards for Quality and Safety
has been reported to the Board of Directors
and the Care Quality Commission via the
Annual Declaration. The Trust achieved
registration with the CQC without condition. 

9.7 No significant internal control issues
(i.e. issues where the risk could not be
effectively controlled) have been identified
in respect of 2009/2010. 

Signed:

Angela Pedder OBE

Chief Executive

4 June 2010



During the last year, the Trust has

performed well both operationally and

financially despite the challenges faced

by emergency activity, reduced

capacity and the financial position of

NHS Devon.  Overall the Trust made

good progress against its operational

plan set for the year, significantly

achieving the milestones set for the

period. 

During 2009/10 the Trust achieved a surplus

of £6.8m, compared to a planned surplus of

£7m as set out in the Annual Plan submitted

to Monitor. Although slightly below plan, the

surplus was sufficient to ensure the Trust

maintained its planned risk rating of 4.  The

surplus of £6.8m generated an EBITDA

margin of 8.7% and strengthened liquidity,

closing on a position of 50 days against a

plan of 43 days, and ensuring the Trust is in

a strong position moving into the tough

financial years ahead.  

Whilst NHS Devon started 2009/10 in a

recurring deficit position, a reasonable

financial settlement was agreed between the

Trust and NHS Devon in the 2009/10

contract.  Having previously received notice

on the 2008/09 patient contract from the

then Primary Care Trust, the Trust

commenced the new National Standard

Patient contract from 2009/10. This three

year contract introduced the potential for

significant penalties relating to under-

achievement of targets for both Referral To

Treatment (RTT) and Clostridium difficile.

2009/10 also saw the introduction of

Healthcare Resource Groups (HRG) version

4, increasing significantly the number of

prices chargeable, and increasing financial

risk. In March 2010, the PCT issued a notice

to move to the most recent National

Standard Contract from April 2011.

Whilst the overall contracted variance

showed only a £800k over-performance at

the year-end (0.3% of contract value),

during the year, a significant growth in

emergency activity was seen. This combined

with the winter outbreaks of norovirus, and

the adverse weather conditions in January,

put significant pressure on elective activity,

resulting in higher cancellations than normal

as well as reduced booking of elective

activity.

A key priority for Directorates for 2009/10

was to achieve efficiency savings targets,

and manage budgets to a break-even

position. As the year progressed however it

was clear that Directorate budgets were

forecast to overspend by around £10m. A

decision was therefore taken by the

Executive Group to freeze both the

authorisation of new developments, and

also expenditure that had not yet been

incurred on previously-agreed

developments. The impact of these

decisions, in addition to much improved

financial control by Directorates, ensured

that the Trust was able to achieve its

planned risk rating of 4.  

Ma n a g i n g
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Future outlook and direction

The Trust will continue to progress its
strategic aims and objectives as set out in
the document, “Trust Strategic Direction
2007-2012”.  Key aims for 2010/11 include:

• Progress towards achieving national
upper quartile new to follow-up
outpatient ratios by March 2012

• Progress towards achieving national
upper quartile lengths of stay in all
specialties March 2012

• Create a high performing organisation
supported by the best Human Resource
information and performance
benchmarks by March 2011

• Developing the Trust as a membership
organisation.

However, the following strategic objectives
may have to be amended in the light of
changed circumstances:

• Referral To Treatment within eight weeks
for 90% of admitted and 95% of non-
admitted patients by March 2011. 
Commissioner affordability no longer
allows for this target to be delivered in
the near future

• 95% of patients in A&E to be treated
within two hours by March 2011.  The
growth in emergency attendances means
that this target should be reviewed

• Patients are accommodated in single
rooms if they wish by March 2012.  This
will need to be reviewed in the light of
reduced growth in NHS funding from
2011/12 onwards.

In the light of the changed financial
environment, the Trust is currently
reviewing its Strategy, a process that will be
completed in September 2010. The Trust
may also need to look again at its strategy
following the general election.

The key risk to the achievement of the

Trust’s objectives is the reduced rate of

growth for the NHS from 2011/12 onwards.

Although headline NHS growth for 2010/11

is already known, it is likely that public

spending constraints will still have an impact

in this year.  In addition, the Trust faces a

number of additional risks including:

• The delivery of efficiency savings targets

and a cultural change from income

generation to cost reduction

• Increased levels of demand

• Contract penalties should the Trust not

achieve targets for Clostridium difficile or

18 week Referral To Treatment

• Referral To Treatment targets of 90%

admitted and 95% non-admitted patients

being set for each specialty, not just in

aggregate across the Trust.

To ensure that RD&E can respond to these

challenges, the Trust will need to continue

to focus on quality and efficiency in delivery

of its services.



Financial and operational reporting

The Board of Directors meets formally on a
scheduled basis, usually ten times per year.
An Annual Plan is approved in May in
accordance with Monitor guidance.
Operational and financial performance
against the plan is reviewed on a monthly
basis, together with detailed performance
reports that include commentary against the
Trust’s agreed service plans for the year.
Areas of current or potential performance
concerns are highlighted in the report and
action plans put in place when planned
progress has not been achieved.

In addition to this routine reporting, the
Board of Directors regularly reviews overall
Trust service and financial performance to
confirm it remains compliant with the terms
of authorisation which govern its operation
as an NHS Foundation Trust.  A quarterly
declaration is submitted to Monitor declaring
the level of compliance the Board can
provide against Monitor’s Compliance
Framework.  Monitor then confirms a risk
rating for the Trust in the areas of finance,
governance and mandatory service
provision. 

The directors are responsible for preparing
the financial statements.  The Board has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of
the Trust’s system of internal controls. So
far as the directors are aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware.  Each director has
taken all of the steps that they ought to
have taken as a director, in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the
auditors are aware of that information.  

An Integrated Performance Report is
presented to the Council of Governors at
each quarterly general meeting.  Progress
against the Membership Development
Strategy and other areas of the Annual Plan
are reported to Governors on a six monthly
basis.

The Trust operates a rigorous system of
internal control, designed to provide
ongoing assurance that risk is managed to
a reasonable level. Risks are identified and
prioritised to ensure any impact on delivery
of the Trust’s objectives is minimised.  The
Chief Executive’s Statement on Internal
Control is included on pages 56-63.

Ac c o u n t a b i l i t y
AND AUDIT
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a formally constituted committee of the Board of Directors, chaired
by Gerald Sturtridge (a non-executive with financial background). Three further non-
executives constitute the Committee which is also attended by representatives of the
external auditors PriceWaterhouseCoopers; Internal Audit and the Counterfraud Service.
The Audit Committee met three times during 2009/10.  The names of members and their
attendance at 2009/10 meetings is as follows:

Date of Gerald Brian David John 
committee Sturtridge Aird Bishop Rackstraw

3 June 2009 Y Y Y Y

28 October 2009 Y N Y N

31 March 2010 Y Y Y N
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The terms of reference for the Committee
were updated and approved by the Board of
Directors on 24 February 2010.  A full
description of the duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee can be found on the
Trust website.  Some of the committee’s key
areas of responsibility are to:

Review the systems of integrated
governance across Trust activities (both
clinical and non-clinical), which support
the achievement of the Trust’s objectives

Utilise the work of internal audit,
external audit and other assurance
functions to assess the overarching
systems of integrated governance, risk
management and internal control,
together with indicators of their
effectiveness

Oversee the monitoring and
management of those risks seen to be
fundamental to the strategy and
sustainability of the Trust

Ensure the existence of an effective
internal audit function and to review the
work and findings of the external auditor

Review the annual report and financial
statements and ensure that systems for
financial reporting to the board are
subject to review. 

The work of the Audit Committee is reported
to the full Board of Directors. During 2009/10
the work of the Committee included:

• Reviewing the findings and
recommendations arising from the work
of External and Internal Audit and the
Counterfraud Service and assessing the
impact of these findings on the overall
system of internal control

• Restatement of 2008/09 financial
statements on an IFRS basis

• Review of reporting of performance
against efficiency programmes

• Update on workforce planning

• Review of evidence collated to support
the Trust’s registration with the Care
Quality Commission.    

During 2009/10 the Council of Governors
reappointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Trust’s external auditors.  It is the
responsibility of the Trust’s directors to
produce the Annual Accounts included in this
report.  

The external auditors provide an
independent opinion on the Trust’s accounts
and also audit the overall position of the
Trust’s management and performance,
including an opinion on the quality of the
system of internal control.  The outcome of
this work is reported in the Audit Opinion
included with the accounts in this report and
the Annual Management Letter to the Board.
For the year under report, the external
auditor provided an unqualified opinion on
the Trust’s accounts and expressed
themselves satisfied with the Trust’s
management procedures and control
processes. 



The Summary Financial Statements are merely a summary of the information

in the full accounts that are available on request from the Director of Finance

and Business Development at the below address: 

Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust, Barrack Road, Exeter, EX2

5DW.  Telephone (01392) 411611.

These Summary Financial Statements have been approved by the Board of

Directors of the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust.

The auditors have issued unqualified reports on the full annual financial

statements; the part of the directors’ remuneration report that is described as

having been audited; and on the consistency of the directors’ report with those

annual financial statements. 

The auditors report on the full annual financial statements contained no

statement on any of the matters on which they are required, by the Audit Code

for NHS Foundation Trusts, to report by exception.

Angela Pedder OBE

Chief Executive as Accounting Officer

4 June 2010

Su m m a r y
F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS
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STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RESPONSIBILITIES AS THE ACCOUNTING

OFFICER OF THE ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

The National Health Service Act 2006 ("2006 Act") states that the Chief Executive is the

Accounting Officer of the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust (“Trust”).  The relevant

responsibilities of the Accounting Officer, including their responsibility for the propriety and

regularity of public finances for which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper

accounts, are set out in the Accounting Officers' memorandum issued by the Independent

Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

Under the 2006 Act, Monitor has directed the Trust to prepare for each financial year a

statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  The

accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state

of affairs of the Trust and of its income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses

and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the

requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and

disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust

Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material

departures in the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Accounting Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose

with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust and to enable her

to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned Act.

The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence

for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

irregularities.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set

out in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officers' Memorandum.

Angela Pedder OBE

Chief Executive

4 June 2010



STATEMENTS

So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which

the Trust’s external auditors are unaware. Each Director has taken all the steps

that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware

of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Trust’s external

auditors are aware of that information.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the

RD&E has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern

basis in preparing the accounts.

Di r e c t o r s ’
STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF THE

ROYAL DEVON AND EXETER NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

We have examined the summary financial

statement for the year ended 31 March 2010

which comprise the Statement of

Comprehensive Income, the Statement of

Financial Position, the Statement of Cash

Flows, the Statement of Changes in

Taxpayers’ Equity, the related notes and the

information in the Remuneration Report that

is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors

and auditors

The directors are responsible for preparing

the Annual Report and summary financial

statement, in accordance with directions

issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS

Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”).

Our responsibility is to report to you our

opinion on the consistency of the summary

financial statements within the Annual Report

with the statutory financial statements and

the Remuneration Report and its compliance

with the relevant requirements of the

directions issued by Monitor.

We also read the other information contained

in the Annual Report and consider the

implications for our statement if we become

aware of any apparent misstatements or

material inconsistencies with the summary

financial statement.

This statement, including the opinion, has

been prepared for, and only for, the Council of

Governors of the Royal Devon and Exeter

NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with

paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National

Health Service Act 2006 (the Act) and for no

other purpose. We do not, in giving this

opinion, accept or assume responsibility for

any other purpose or to any other person to

whom this statement is shown or into whose

hands it may come save where expressly

agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We conducted our work in accordance with

Bulletin 2008/3 issued by the Auditing

Practices Board. Our report on the statutory

financial statements describes the basis of

our audit opinion on those financial

statements, the Directors’ Report and the

Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Opinion

In our opinion the summary financial

statement is consistent with the statutory

financial statements and the Remuneration

Report of the NHS Foundation Trust for the

year ended 31 March 2010 and complies with

the relevant requirements of the directions

issued by Monitor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory

Auditors

Plymouth

4 June 2010

In d e p e n d e n t
AUDITORS STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2010

2009/10 2008/09

£000 £000

Income from activities 272,763 254,997

Other operating income 62,926 57,840

Operating income 335,689 312,837

Operating expenses (320,290) (296,334)

Operating surplus 15,399 16,503

Finance costs

Finance income 144 1,867

Finance expense (1,131) (1,189)

PDC dividends payable (7,577) (8,800)

Net finance costs (8,564) (8,122)

Surplus for the year 6,835 8,381

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation losses and impairment losses property, plant and equipment (33,668) (23,595)

Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt of donated assets 179 222

Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation, 
impairment, and/or disposal of on donated assets (448) (414)

Total comprehensive income and expense for the year (27,102) (15,406)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2010
31 March 2010 31 March 2009 01 April 2008

£000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 789 829 643

Property, plant and equipment 231,737 261,148 293,091

Trade and other receivables 838 810 619

Total non-current assets 233,364 262,787 294,353

Current assets

Inventories 4,607 4,691 4,079

Trade and other receivables 13,116 13,575 13,189

Cash and cash equivalents 41,498 38,359 31,598

59,221 56,625 48,866

Non-current assets held for sale 6,000 6,000 -

Total current assets 65,221 62,625 48,866

Current liabilities

Trade payables and receipts in advance (22,223) (21,877) (20,880)

Other liabilities (2,250) (1,637) (3,548)

Borrowings (1,271) (1,270) (1,270)

Provisions (130) (147) (101)

Tax payables (4,048) (3,700) (3,629)

Total current liabilities (29,922) (28,631) (29,428)

Total assets less current liabilities 268,663 296,781 313,791

Non-current liabilities

Other liabilities (153) (320) (565)

Borrowings (21,483) (22,754) (24,024)

Provisions (296) (270) (359)

Total non-current liabilities (21,932) (23,344) (24,948)

Total assets employed 246,731 273,437 288,843

Financed by taxpayers’ equity

Public dividend capital 149,715 149,319 149,319

Revaluation reserve 50,784 86,857 113,469

Donated asset reserve 3,831 4,808 5,140

Income and expenditure reserve 42,401 32,453 20,915

Total taxpayers' equity 246,731 273,437 288,843

Prior year comparatives have been restated to take account of the transition to reporting under International

Financial Reporting Standards. Where required, reconciliations have been prepared that explain material
changes to amounts previously reported under UK GAAP and are disclosed in the full accounts.

The Annual Accounts were formally approved by the Board of Directors and were signed on its behalf by:

Angela Pedder OBE
Chief Executive
4 June 2010
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2010

Public Revaluation Donated Income and Total
dividend reserve assets expediture

capital reserve reserve

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2008 149,319 113,469 5,140 20,915 288,843

Surplus for the year - - - 8,381 8,381

Revaluation losses and impairment losses - (23,455) (140) - (23,595)
property, plant and equipment

Increase in the donated assets reserve due to - - 222 - 222
receipt of donated assets

Reduction in the donated assets reserve in respect - - (414) - (414)
of depreciation, impairment, and/or disposal of
on donated assets

Transfers to the income and expenditure account - (11) - 11 -
in respect of assets disposed of

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation - (3,146) - 3,146 -
over historical cost depreciation to the income and
expenditure reserve

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 149,319 86,857 4,808 32,453 273,437
and 1 April 2009

Surplus for the year - - - 6,835 6,835

Revaluation losses and impairment losses - (32,960) (708) - (33,668)
property, plant and equipment

Increase in the donated assets reserve due to - - 179 - 179
receipt of donated assets

Reduction in the donated assets reserve in respect - - (448) - (448)
of depreciation, impairment, and/or disposal of
on donated assets

Transfers to the income and expenditure account - (4) - 4 -
in respect of assets disposed of

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation - (3,109) - 3,109 -
over historical cost depreciation to the income
and expenditure reserve

Public dividend capital received 396 - - - 396

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2010 149,715 50,784 3,831 42,401 246,731

Public dividend capital ("PDC") PDC represents the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of
establishment of the Trust. It also includes new PDC received to fund capital expenditure on schemes
supported by the Department of Health central capital budgets. PDC has no fixed capital repayment period.

Revaluation reserve The reserve reflects movements in the value of purchased property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets.

Donated assets reserve The reserve reflects movements in the value of donated property, plant and
equipment and intangibles assets.

Income and expenditure reserve The reserve is the cumulative surplus / (deficit) made by the Trust
since its inception. It is held in perpetuity and cannot be released to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010
2009/10 2008/09

£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus 15,399 16,503

Non-cash income and expense
Depreciation and amortisation 13,706 13,542
Transfer from the donated asset reserve (448) (414)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 715 (577)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 84 (612)
Increase in trade and other payables 1,902 19
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 446 (2,156)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 9 (43)
Increase in tax liability payable 348 71
Other movements in operating cash flows 114 99

Net cash generated from operations 32,275 26,432

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 144 1,867
Purchase of intangible assets (166) (363)
Sales of intangible assets 4 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (19,513) (10,147)
Sales of property, plant and equipment 82 9

Net cash used in investing activities (19,449) (8,634)

Cash flows from financing activities
PDC received 396 -
Loans repaid (1,270) (1,270)
Interest paid (1,131) (1,189)
PDC dividend paid (7,861) (8,800)
Cash flows from other financing activities 179 222

Net cash used in financing activities (9,687) (11,037)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,139 6,761

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 38,359 31,598

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 41,498 38,359
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Income from activities 2009/10 2008/09

£000 £000
Elective income 76,440 70,801
Non-elective income 89,649 85,081
Outpatient income 44,765 44,524
Other NHS clinical income 51,247 45,209
A & E income 9,393 8,030
Private patient income 1,205 1,297
Other non-protected clinical income 64 55

272,763 254,997

Income from mandatory services 271,494 253,645
Income from non-mandatory services 1,269 1,352

272,763 254,997

Income from activities - by source 2009/10 2008/09
£000 £000

NHS foundation trusts 37 10
NHS trusts 45 48
Strategic health authorities 271 -
Primary care trusts 269,830 245,255
Department of Health - other 42 7,246
NHS other 447 236
Non-NHS: private patients 1,205 1,297
Non-NHS: overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 110 94
NHS injury scheme 712 758
Non-NHS: other 64 53

272,763 254,997

Other operating income 2009/10 2008/09
£000 £000

Research and development 12,319 8,539
Education and training 19,443 18,898
Transfers from the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation, 448 414
impairment and disposal of donated assets
Non-patient care services to other bodies 24,230 23,260
Profit on disposal of intangible fixed assets 4 -
Profit on disposal of plant and equipment 77 -
Other 6,405 6,729

62,926 57,840

Included within "Non-patient care services to other bodies" are laundry services, transport services, financial
services, payroll services, procurement services, IT services, estates services, pathology services, pharmacy
services and drug sales totalling £14.2 million (2008/09 - £13.9 million).
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Operating expenses 2009/10 2008/09

£000 £000
Services from other NHS foundation trusts 1,075 722
Services from NHS trusts 1,328 2,164
Services from other NHS bodies 3,389 2,457
Employee expenses - executive directors  927 893
Employee expenses - non-executive directors  145 142
Employee expenses - staff 188,060 174,150
Drug costs 26,651 23,328
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 35,650 35,608
Supplies and services - general 4,477 4,069
Establishment 3,677 3,407
Research and development 11,657 7,709
Transport 367 418
Premises 12,078 13,219
(Decrease) / increase in bad debt provision (52) 65
Depreciation 13,500 13,365
Amortisation of intangible assets 206 177
Audit fees - statutory audit 52 62
Other auditors' remuneration 7 102
Clinical negligence 4,355 2,167
Losses, ex gratia and special payments 151 145
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 195 99
Peninsula Medical School - medical student placements and other services 6,038 6,155
Other 6,357 5,711

320,290 296,334

Average number of persons employed including Directors

Permanent Other 2009/10 2008/09
employees employees total total

Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 547 4 551 542

Administration and estates 1,230 5 1,235 1,127

Healthcare assistants and other support staff 528 - 528 513

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,825 6 1,831 1,761

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 701 1 702 664

Bank and agency staff - 210 210 189

Total 4,831 226 5,057 4,796

Better Payment Practice Code

2009/10 2009/10 2008/09 2008/09

Number £000 Number £000

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 93,983 115,707 98,009 101,220

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 80,105 96,587 82,588 79,877

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid 85.23% 83.48% 84.27% 78.91%
within target

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,711 29,084 2,580 20,836

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 1,909 20,534 1,639 13,768

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 70.42% 70.60% 63.53% 66.08%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid non-NHS invoices by the due date
or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later. The payment performance has been
calculated upon this criteria, irrespective of whether a query or dispute was raised by the Trust due to supplier
error resulting in a delay in payment. 
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Prudential Borrowing Limit 

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 1 April 2008
£000 £000 £000

Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor 70,000 70,800 67,400

Working capital facility agreed by Monitor 18,000 18,000 18,000

Total Prudential Borrowing Limit 88,000 88,800 85,400

Long term borrowing at beginning of year 24,024 25,294 26,565

Repayment in year (1,270) (1,270) (1,271)

Long term borrowing at the end of year 22,754 24,024 25,294

The approved working capital facility was unused during the year. 

Financial ratios 2009/10 2009/10 2008/09 2008/09
Actual Minimum Actual Minimum
ratios PBL ratios PBL

Dividend cover 3.6x >1x 3.5x >1x

Interest cover 25.0x >3x 27.0x >3x

Debt service cover 11.8x >2x 13.1x >2x

Debt service to revenue 0.7% <3% 0.8% <3%

The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. 

The maximum cumulative amount of long-term borrowing. This is set by reference to the four ratio tests set
out in Monitor's Prudential Borrowing Code. 
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SUI confidentiality breaches: There were no serious untoward incidents

relating to data losses or breaches in patent confidentiality during the course

of the financial year.

Fu r t h e r
DISCLOSURES



• As Non-Executive members do not receive
pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in
respect of pensions for Non-Executive members.
• A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular
point in time.  The benefits valued are the member's
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension
payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment
made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure

pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their
former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to
the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to
which the disclosure applies.  The CETV figures, and
the other pension details, include the value of any
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement

Di r e c t o r s ’
remunera t i on
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• Other Remuneration shows the salary that is attributable to clinical duties.  
• The contractual hours of L Lane are 0.8 of a whole time equivalent.
• The benefit in kind for A Pedder relates to the provision of a lease car.   

Remuneration
Name and Title Salary Other

Remuneration

(bands of £5000) (bands of £5000)

£000 £000

A Ballatti Chairman 45 - 50 -
B Aird Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 -
B Baty Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 -
D Bishop Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 -
J Rackstraw Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 -
G Sturtridge Non-Executive Director 15 - 20 -
D Wright Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 -

A Pedder Chief Executive 165 - 170 -
M Cooper Joint Medical Director (Appointed 1 April 2009) 45 - 50 235 - 240
E Hobson Chief Operating Officer 105 - 110 -
L Lane Director of Human Resources 80 - 85 -
M N Orzel Director of Nursing & Patient Care (resigned 21 Feb 2010) 100 - 105 -
V Pearce Joint Medical Director 85 - 90 105 - 110
S Tracey Director of Finance & Business Development 125 - 130 -
I Wilson Joint Medical Director (resigned 1 April 2009) - -
J Viner Acting Director of Nursing & Patient Care

(appointed 1 Feb 2010) 10 - 15 -

Pension Benefits
Name and Title Real increase Real increase in

in pension at pension related
age 60 sum at age 60

(bands £2,500) (bands £2,500)
£000 £000

A Pedder Chief Executive 0.0 - 2.5 5.0 - 7.5
M Cooper Joint Medical Director (appointed 1 April 2009) 0.0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5.0
E Hobson Chief Operating Officer 0.0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5.0
L Lane Director of Human Resources 0.0 - 2.5 5.0 - 7.5
M N Orzel Director of Nursing & Service Improvement (resigned 21 Feb 2010) 5.0 - 7.5 15.0 - 17.5
V Pearce Joint Medical Director 0.0 - 2.5 2.5 - 5.0
S Tracey Director of Finance & Business Development 0.0 - 2.5 5.0 - 7.5
J Viner Acting Director of Nursing & Service Improvement 0.0 - 2.5 0.0 - 2.5

(appointed 1 Feb 2010)

Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers - 2009/10

Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers 
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which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension
scheme.  They also include any additional pension
benefit accrued to the member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of pension service in the
scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within
the guidelines and framework prescribed by the
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
• Real increase in CETV - This reflects the increase in
CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes
account of the increase in accrued pension due to

inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another
pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of the
period.
• Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (CETV) are not
available for members that have reached the normal
retirement age of 60 or who have commenced drawing
their pension.  No CETV is therefore available, as at 31
March 2010, for M Cooper and V Pearce.

• The remaining benefits in kind relates to
the mileage allowance paid over and above
the HM Revenue Customs allowance.

Golden hello/ Benefits in kind
compensation for

loss of office
(bands of £5000) (Rounded to the

nearest £100)
£000 £

- 1,000
- -
- 100
- -
- 300
- -
- 100

- 7,800
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

- -

Total accrued Total accrued related Cash Equivalent Cash Equivalent Real Increase in
pension at age 60 lump sum at age 60 Transfer Value Transfer Value Cash Equivalent
at 31 March 2010 31 March 2010 at 31 March 2010 at 31 March 2009 Transfer Value at
(bands of £2,500) (bands of £2,500) 31 March 2010

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
70.0 - 72.5 215.0 - 217.5 1,524 1,377 79
60.0 - 62.5 180.0 - 182.5 - - -
42.5 - 45.0 127.5 - 130.0 879 797 43

5.0 - 7.5 17.5 - 20.0 121 82 26
32.5 - 35.0 97.5 - 100.0 618 465 88
65.0 - 67.5 197.5 - 200.0 - - -
12.5 - 15.0 42.5 - 50.0 240 185 36
15.0 - 17.5 50.0 - 52.5 319 250 7
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Quality Report 2009/10
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The Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation

Trust’s (RD&E) Quality Report 2009/10 sets out

our performance in delivering high quality

healthcare for all, what we have done to improve

the quality of our services and our plans to

continue to make further progress, and how we

measure up on meeting national targets on

quality care. 

This is the RD&E’s second annual report on

quality and it builds on the approach to quality

healthcare that underpinned last year’s report.

This report includes a review of the progress

made on the priorities outlined in the 2008/09

report. Since this report we have had the

opportunity to gain a better understanding of the

quality issues that concern our patients,

members and public service users. The result is

a report that is genuinely patient-centred and

better tuned in to the interests of the public we

serve.

Reporting on the quality of healthcare

provided by the RD&E is essential:

� It is a way for patients and the wider

community to take a view on the quality of

services we offer. The report seeks to provide

an honest assessment of what we are doing

to improve quality, how effective our

initiatives are, and what more needs to be

done. We believe that transparency about

our effectiveness on quality matters is

important in providing a real sense of

accountability.

� Providing more information to the public, and

the scrutiny and accountability that goes with

this, helps to encourage a focus on driving

quality improvement initiatives. It also

underlines the need for quality to be

embedded in everything we do from the

boardroom to the ward and for all members

of staff to care about, and act on, quality

issues.

In t r o d u c t i o n
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This year’s Quality Report has benefited from

input from the Board of Directors, the Council of

Governors, members of the Foundation Trust and

the wider public. The RD&E Governors have

highlighted some of their key priorities for

improvement with regard to quality in their

commentary (see page 35). In addition Devon

County Council’s Health & Adults Services

Scrutiny Committee have commented on this

year’s report and their statement has been

supported by Devon Local Involvement Network

(Devon LINk) in page 36 of this report.

Earlier this year RD&E members and interested

members of the public were asked for their views

on quality healthcare. The outcomes from this

survey have helped drive the contents of this

report and the priorities and issues highlighted

within it. 

Approximately 3,500 members were asked for

their views and members of the public could also

have their say by filling in an online survey.

Around 370 responses were received.

In response to questions about what matters

most on the issue of quality healthcare, the key

priorities were infection control and the

cleanliness of the hospital. 

Of secondary importance were issues concerned

with how well people were treated in the hospital

and being informed about what was happening

to them. 

In comparison, concerns around waiting times

after referral or time spent in the hospital waiting

for an appointment were less important.

Member and public views

PART 1



Our guiding principles are:

ensuring that the quality of healthcare is

at the very centre of everything we do

striving to consistently meet or exceed

the expectations of our users

maintaining the very highest quality

standards - a culture in which good is not

good enough

continuously learning and improving on

our performance

taking a holistic, system-wide approach

to quality

our values and ethos. 

These principles are turned into action by the

committed, passionate and skilled people

employed at the RD&E. Our approach is to

encourage and empower our staff to strive for

excellence in their work. Through their efforts,

we believe we deliver the high quality experience

and safe clinical outcomes our patients want.   

Our commitment to quality improvement is

based on the understanding that:

Quality...
... outcomes cannot be achieved by standing still

but rather through a relentless and continuous

focus on driving up quality performance.

... cannot simply be defined by clinical outcomes

but also by the way in which our services are

delivered and how cost effectively.

... can be enhanced by providing a level of

personalised care.

... healthcare involves consistently meeting or

exceeding national or local health targets.

... healthcare can only be delivered by staff who

care passionately about continuous improvement

and who feel invested in, supported and listened

to.

... is driven by clinicians with managers providing

the enabling environment to encourage and

incentivise quality improvements.

... healthcare can only be achieved if there is

strong and consistent leadership at all levels and

the culture of the organisation rewards those

who make a difference.

... is related to the skills and competencies of

those delivering care, how they work together in

teams or across departments and organisations,

and how they are supported to achieve best

practice.

... can be enhanced by measuring what we do

and reporting on progress and setbacks openly

and transparently.

... should include an assessment of the extent to

which the organisation acts responsibly to the

environment, the communities it serves, and the

local economy.

QU A L I T Y
hea l thca re  a t  the  RD&E

Q

Q

Q

Q
Q
Q
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One of the most important aspects of quality

relates to people’s experiences of the services

they use. In general people rate the experiences

they have on a spectrum between unacceptable

and exceeding expectations and, of course, all

experiences are individual. Nevertheless, it is

possible to discern common issues when looking

at patient experiences as a whole. 

Careful analysis of our real-time patient

experience data and other patient experience

data helps us define key issues of concern and

then put in place plans to address them. These

action plans can be undertaken at individual

ward level or Trust-wide. Patients tell us that how

our staff communicate with them is important.

Identifying this issue has helped us develop a

programme that increases staff 

understanding of the principles of good quality

‘customer care’ which will have a positive impact

on patient experience. 

We recognise however, that the experiences of

patients at the Trust are only part of the

equation. Equally important are the views of our

Trust Members and public service users. In

considering our priorities and measures for

quality for this year, we have brought together

the specific feedback we have received from our

consultation exercise with our Trust Members

and the public along with other means of

feedback such as complaints, concerns and

compliments. This has given us a good

understanding of what is important to patients,

members and the community on what matters to

them in relation to their experience of

the Trust. 

1. Personal experience

Patient experience
Experience for patients covers a wide range of aspects including travel and access, waiting times from
referral, waiting to be seen in the hospital, how people were spoken to and treated by staff in the
hospital, hospital cleanliness, concerns about healthcare acquired infections, whether they were
treated as an individual and received respect and dignity, whether they understood what was
happening, and how they were treated on discharge. We use different methods to collect patient
feedback about their experience and use this to inform our improvement work.
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Nursing Quality Assessment Tool (NQAT) -

The NQAT audits nursing documentation, ward

practice, and patient satisfaction. Tools are under

development for use in theatres, recovery,

outpatients, day case and paediatrics. We are

able to link the results of the NQAT to the results

of the National Inpatient survey to validate the

findings. To date 447 patients have participated

in this survey. 97% said that they were treated

with dignity and respect all of the time. 

Customer Care Cards – are available on every

ward at the bedside. These cards provide the

opportunity to give direct feedback to staff. 

The Patient and Visitor Feedback Card was

launched in September 2009 to provide a further

opportunity for patients to tell us what they think

about the care they received. To date, 150

patients have returned a comment card. The

responses received show positive feedback with

the majority of patients indicating satisfaction

with the care received. A small number suggest

there is further work to be done to improve the

patient experience. It is not possible to draw firm

conclusions from such a small number of

responses but our intention is to increase the

response rate for the comment cards in all areas

to ensure we capture the experience of as many

patients as possible. This information will be

added to the electronic patient experience and

the national patient experience survey to provide

a comprehensive overview of patient experience.

Independent national surveys – each year

we participate in the CQC National Inpatient

Survey. This provides patient feedback on a

number of issues including the admission

process, the ward, Doctors and Nurses, care and

treatment and discharge. The 2009 NHS

Inpatient Survey results present a positive

picture of patient experience and quality of care

at the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation

Trust. The RD&E is placed in the top 20 per cent

of trusts for the majority of measures – a

significant improvement has been achieved over

the past two years. Areas where the RD&E was

rated highly by inpatients includes cleanliness,

privacy and dignity, pain control, being informed

about treatment, having confidence in the

doctors and nurses and good hand hygiene of

frontline staff, single sex accommodation and

feeling safe in hospital.  93% of patients rated

their care as good or excellent, and 99% of

patients reported that they were treated with

dignity and respect.

2. Clinical effectiveness
& clinical excellence

The second key aspect of quality concerns the

clinical outcomes achieved in the work

undertaken by the Trust. We want our patients

to receive effective treatment from competent

staff using the latest technologies to get the best

outcomes.  Acute Trusts such as the RD&E

deliver a wide range of services provided in many

different departments. For this reason, it is not

possible to identify one, or even a small number

of measures that would be relevant across the

whole hospital. However, meeting or exceeding

the national targets set by our regulators along

with the local targets agreed with our

commissioners, and the internal measures used

by our clinicians to assess their effectiveness,

provide a good way of measuring effectiveness.

3. Patient safety &
reliability

The third element of quality focuses on ensuring

that the services we provide, and the way in

which they are provided, are performed

consistently and safely. This means “doing the

right thing, right on time, every time.” In the

context of a healthcare setting, meeting minimal

standards relates not just to consistency of

performance but also that what is being done is

carried out safely and without harm to patients. 
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4. Productivity
The fourth element of quality care concerns how effective we are at delivering quality healthcare

efficiently and productively. For example, significant and lasting improvements can be delivered by

streamlining and redesigning the way in which healthcare is provided. This improved efficiency can

lead to an increase in the time available for direct patient care. This not only increases the quality of

care but also reduces costs, a factor that is likely to become increasingly important in future years. 

Quality definitions
The Department of Health’s ‘High Quality Care for All’ (2008) definition of quality as having three

dimensions - patient safety; clinical effectiveness; and patient experience - are a useful way of

considering some of the key aspects of quality. 

For the RD&E, our starting point in defining quality is the one set out in ‘High Quality for All’. In our

discussions with stakeholders however, we have concluded that, for the Trust, our definition of quality

is slightly broader than the concept as outlined in Lord Darzi’s report in several ways:

Patient experience is clearly absolutely central to consideration of quality but the experiences

of a wider range of stakeholders (such as members, the broader community we serve, NHS

Devon etc) with the Trust should also inform our approach.

Patient Safety is a critical component of quality healthcare. Alongside safety, our view is that

uniformity of care standards are also important. 

Clinical effectiveness is incorporated into a slightly wider definition – clinical excellence – which

also includes issues such as the extent to which our clinicians are involved in clinical networks,

focus on research and innovation.

In addition, we have added a fourth dimension

around the issue of productivity/value for money

as being an important determinant of quality. 
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The Trust’s first report on Quality in 2008/09 sets out many of the key quality

issues that were prioritised within the Trust as well as some specific objectives for

the coming year. These priorities were informed through discussions with

stakeholders but we did not undertake specific consultation on quality issues. Since

then, the Trust has used the impetus provided by the report to drive up quality

across the hospital and good progress has been made on many of the indicators

chosen last year.

The RD&E’s Board is strongly committed to, and focused on, providing the

leadership and setting the organisational culture so that patients who use our

services receive the very highest quality of care and perceive it to be so. The

RD&E’s Board of Directors place the quality agenda at the heart of the

organisation’s strategy and this will be reflected in the Trust’s future plans. The

Board receive regular information on quality issues as part of its regular integrated

reporting and also look in detail at particular dimensions of quality. The Director

of Nursing and Patient Care takes overall responsibility for the quality agenda at

the Trust. 

For 2010/11, the RD&E will prioritise enhancing the quality of care across the Trust.

The Trust has in place a wide range of initiatives, many of which are clinically led,

which directly or indirectly impact on quality care which will either continue during

the year or will begin during the course of 2010/11. Some of these initiatives are

set out in the report. 

We will ensure that we publish the indicators we have chosen to report on covering

various aspects of quality on a regular basis on the Trust’s website to promote

greater openness and transparency in regards our quality performance. 

I can confirm that to the best of my knowledge the information in the RD&E’s

Quality Report is accurate. 

Signed 

Angela Pedder OBE

Chief Executive

June 2010
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This section of the RD&E’s Quality Report focuses

on our performance against the priorities for

quality improvement that were outlined in last

year’s initial Quality Report.

In our 2008/09 Quality Report we highlighted

three key Board-approved priorities for

improvement and a number of initiatives to

address these priorities. 

Patient safety
To reduce hospital acquired infections:

C. difficile – no more than 183 infections

MRSA – 18 infections

Performance in 2009/10

The Trust has made significant advances towards

the goal of eliminating all avoidable healthcare

acquired infections.

Clostridium Difficile (C. difficile)

A local reduction target was agreed with NHS

Devon to reduce the incidence of C. difficile in

over two year olds to a level of a maximum 183

infections during 2009/10. 

i

MRSA 

The 2009/10 target was for a maximum of 18

MRSA bacteraemia for 2009/10.

The Trust continued to build on the work started
in 2008 to reduce the incidence of healthcare
acquired infections. This included the
establishment of the Trust Infection Control
Committee to track actions relating to the
reduction of MRSA bacteraemia. In April 2009
MRSA screening for elective planned admissions
commenced. Whilst it is too early to say what
effect this will have on the incidence of MRSA it
will provide an opportunity to identify those at
risk early and ensure an appropriate
management plan. We have achieved reductions
in MRSA and C. difficile through:

� A focus on the reduction of surgical site
infections

� Preventing Central Venous Catheter (CVC)
infections

� Maintaining a high standard of ward
environment cleanliness
and hygiene.

Priorities

Report on progress made during the last financial year

f o r  improvement  and  s ta tements
o f  assurance  f rom the  Board  

1

MRSA Bloodstream Infections

Period Actual Target

Quarter 1 3 3

Quarter 2 0 3

Quarter 3 1 5

Quarter 4 3 7

Year 7 18

Clostridium Difficile infections

(Patients aged two or over specimen taken on

or after third day after admission)

Period Actual Target

Quarter 1 21 41

Quarter 2 15 46

Quarter 3 37 42

Quarter 4 27 54

Year to Date 100 183

The Trust achieved this target with fewer cases

of C. Difficile than projected.
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To improve our National Patient Survey result for Privacy & Dignity to 85%.

The Trust has made excellent progress in improving our patients’ perception of how they are treated

in relation to whether they felt they had sufficient privacy and were treated with dignity as an

outpatient. 

Patient Experience3

RD&E RD&E RD&E All NHS NQAT 

national national national Trusts in (RD&E internal

survey survey survey 2009 internal survey)

2007 2008 2009 2009/10

Were you given enough privacy when discussing your condition or treatment?

73% 77% 96% 96% 93%

Were you given enough privacy when being examined or treated?

88% 90% 97% 97% 93%

Overall, do you feel you have been treated with respect and dignity throughout your stay?

79% 83% 95% 94.5% 97%

To increase the proportion of stroke patients spending 90% of their hospital stay on a

specialist unit from 68% to 85% (for those patients

requiring admission for longer than three

days) in 2010.

The latest projection for the proportion of

stroke patients spending 90% of their

stay in a specialist unit has risen

marginally since the Sentinel Audit in

2008 but the RD&E is confident that

with new measures in place it will

be able to reach the 90% target at

the time of the next Sentinel Audit

during 2010.

Clinical Effectiveness2

How did we do?
Independent measurement of this target

will be completed this year however progress

has been made on implementing all elements

of the stroke care bundles. In particular:

�   We have reviewed the stroke care pathway to minimise
the barriers to transfer from the Emergency Department

for further investigation and then on to the specialist ward

�   We now have Stroke Nurse Practitioners
available 24 hours

�   We have designated a second specialist stroke
care ward to ensure we have increased

capacity at times when we need it. 

Progress made on Priorities 2008/09
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How did we do?
The Trust has achieved its target of increasing

patient perceptions on whether they were treated

with respect and dignity. This has been achieved by:

�   Accommodating the vast majority of patients in
single sex accommodation

�   Addressing any specific concerns at a ward level
through the Trust’s Nursing Quality Assessment

Tool (pictured)

�   Introducing the Patient First customer care
course for Ward Sisters.
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Services
During 2009/10 the Royal Devon and

Exeter NHS Foundation Trust provided

and/or sub-contracted 45 NHS services. 

The Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation

Trust has reviewed all the data available to them

on the quality of care in 45 of these NHS

services. 

The income generated by the NHS services

reviewed in 2009/10 represents 100 per cent of

the total income generated from the provision of

NHS services by the Royal Devon & Exeter NHS

Foundation Trust for 2009/10. 

Clinical Audit supports the Trust’s

commitment to providing and maintaining

high quality, safe and equitably clinical care   

The Trust recognises that Clinical Audit is a key

component in the Trust’s quality assurance

systems and has invested in providing clinicians

with sufficient support to enable them participate

in both national and local audits. The Governance

Support Unit provides assistance with audit

activity throughout the Trust; coordinates the

Clinical Audit Programme and maintains a

register of the national and local audit projects

undertaken by the Trust. 

The Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Committee

is chaired by the Medical Director and leads the

promotion of participation in multi-disciplinary

clinical audit throughout the Trust. The

Committee reviews the recommendations of

national audits, co-ordinates multi-disciplinary

clinical audit activity and monitors the

implementation and audit of NICE Guidance. 

National Service Frameworks (NSFs) set national

standards and define service models for a

specified service or care group. Working parties

have been set up to implement the

recommendations of the following National

Service Frameworks: Cancer, Coronary Heart

Disease, Diabetes, Older People, Renal Services,

Children and Long Term Conditions.  The NSFs

are monitored through the National Standards

Local Strategy (NSLS) Committee.  Audits have

been undertaken as part of the NSF action plans. 

As a result, Clinical Audit is well established

within the Trust. Directorates receive quarterly

reports on audit activity within their specialties

from the Governance Support Unit and have

audit leads and established governance groups

that ensure the completion of the audit

programme. The Trust participates in a large

number of national audits and confidential

enquires. These audits and enquiries cover a

wide range of services and lead to improvements

in clinical care at both a national and local level.  

National clinical audits are either funded by the

Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership

(HQIP) through the National Clinical Audit and

Patients Outcome Programme (NCAPOP), or

funded through other means. Priorities for the

NCAPOP are set by the Department of Health

with advice from the National Clinical Audit

Advisory Group (NCAAG). 

During the period 2009/10, the Royal Devon and

Exeter NHS Foundation Trust participated in 43

national clinical audits and seven national

confidential enquiries which it was eligible to

participate in. Details of the national audits and

confidential enquiries that the Trust was eligible

to participate in and contributed to are shown at

Annex A, Annex B and Annex C in this report.  

St a t e m e n t s
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Commitment to research as a driver for

improving the quality of care and patient

experience 

The number of patients receiving NHS services

provided or sub-contracted by the RD&E in

2009/10 that were recruited during that period

to participate in research approved by a research

ethics committee was 5600.  This represents an

increase in excess of 40% from 2008/09 and

demonstrates RD&E’s commitment to improving

the quality of care we offer and to making our

contribution to wider health improvement.

The RD&E is the highest recruiting NHS

organisation to clinical trials in the South West

Peninsula. The RD&E was involved in conducting

429 clinical research studies in 2009/10. Of the

70 studies given permission to start, 80% were

given permission by an authorised person less

than 30 days from receipt of a valid complete

application with the average for all studies being

24 days. In 2009/10 the National Institute for

Health Research (NIHR) supported 266 of these

studies through its research networks. 

The RD&E hosts the South West Diabetes Local

Research Network, the South West Stroke Local

Research Network, the South West Research

Design Service and the Peninsula Comprehensive

Local Research Network, thus playing a

significant role in the region for the National

Institute of Health Research.

The RD&E collaborates with the Peninsula School

of Medicine & Dentistry, hosting the NIHR

Peninsula Clinical Research Facility for

experimental medicine.  A total of 2900

participants were recruited into research studies

during 2009/10 at this facility.  The RD&E is an

active member of the Peninsula Collaboration for

Applied Health Research and Care. The RD&E is

involved in six of the first 14 CLAHRC projects,

mainly in areas relating to stroke, obesity and

paediatrics. 

The high quality of the research at the Trust is

demonstrated by the level of external grant

funding which is in excess of £1.7 million each

year. In the last three years, the Trust has had

296 publications and 55% of these have resulted

from our involvement in NIHR research, helping

to improve patient outcomes and experience

across the NHS.

The number of patients receiving NHS services

provided or sub-contracted by the Royal Devon

and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust that were

recruited during that period to participate in

research approved by a research ethics

committee was 429.
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CQUIN
The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation

Trust’s income in 2009/10 was not conditional on

achieving quality improvement and innovation

goals through the Commissioning for Quality and

Innovation (CQUIN) payment framework

because our Commissioners and the Trust agreed

that the quality issues that were discussed

should not form part of the contract until the

following year.

CQC Registration
Following the publication of the Health and Social

Care Act 2008, a new system of regulation came

into effect on 1 April 2010 that required all health

and adult social care providers to register with

the Care Quality Commission (CQC) any

locations where they carry out regulated

activities. In addition, it imposed a statutory

responsibility on Trusts to ensure that their

organisation complies with the essential

standards of safety and quality set out in with

the Care Quality Commission (registration)

Regulations 2009.  

The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust

provides a wide range of services at a number of

different locations including some specialist

services in Devon, Cornwall, the Isles of Scilly,

Somerset and Dorset. Across these sites the

Trust has more than 30 wards, 20 operating

theatres, approximately 850 inpatient and 75

day case beds. 

Regulated activities undertaken by the Trust

include: 

� Accommodation with nursing or personal
care

� Management of blood/blood derived
products

� Diagnostics and screening procedures

� Maternity & midwifery services 

� Assessment/treatment (detained under
Mental Health Act 1983)

� Surgical procedures

� Termination of pregnancies 

� Treatment of disease, disorder or injury. 

The Trust applied for full registration and

received confirmation from the CQC on 29 March

2010 that its application had been accepted. The

Trust is registered to carry out the above

regulated activities, at the locations specified in

its application, without condition. 

The Royal Devon & Exeter has not participated in

any special reviews or investigations by the CQC

during the reporting period 2009/10.

The Care Quality Commission has not taken

enforcement action against the Royal Devon &

Exeter during 2009/10.
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Data quality
NHS Number & General
Medical Practice Code
validity 
The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust

submitted records for April 2009 to January 2010

to the Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in the

Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in

the latest published data.

The percentage of records in the published data

which included the patient’s valid NHS number

was:

97.3% for admitted patient care;

98.9% for outpatient care; and

84.9% for accident and emergency care.

The percentage of records in the published data

which included the patient’s valid General

Medical Practice Code was:

100% for admitted patient care;

100% for outpatient care; and

99.3% for accident and emergency care.

Information Governance
Toolkit attainment levels  
The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust

score for 2009/10 for Information Quality and

Records Management, assessed using the

Information Governance Toolkit was 90.5%.

Clinical coding error rate   
The Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust

was subject to the Payment by Results clinical

coding audit during the reporting period by the

Audit Commission and the error rates reported

in the latest published audit (due to be published

by mid-2010) for that period for diagnoses and

treatment coding (clinical coding) were:

Primary diagnoses incorrect   10.3% 

Secondary diagnoses incorrect   4.7%

Primary procedures incorrect   5.4%

Secondary procedures incorrect  12.4%.

The Trust has a Clinical Coding error rate from

the 2009/10 PBR Assurance Framework Audit of

6.3%, i.e. 93.7% of codes are correct. The

Information Tool Kit target we have to meet is

90%. Clinical Codes are not directly related to

patient care, but are used to generate the Trust’s

income for inpatient / daycase admissions and

for use in clinical audits. The results should not

be extrapolated further then the actual sample

audited (300 records). The services reviewed in

this sample were:

100 – non medicine

100 – clinical haematology

70 – spinal surgery and related disorders

30 – asthma and wheezing
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For 2010/11, the RD&E has identified

quality improvements priorities to:

1 Boost key measures on patient

experience and cleanliness

2 Promote clinical effectiveness

3 Keep patients safe and ensure they

receive a uniform service

4 Build productivity gains which boost

quality.

Although some different indicators have been

selected in this year’s Quality Report, our

intention is to continue to report on all the

indicators we reported in the 2009/10 report.

Quality improvement is a long and continuous

journey so it is inevitable that over time our

approach and our priorities will change. 

Nevertheless, we are committed to ensuring that

we report back every year on the progress we

have made and explain why we select different

priorities or indicators over time as we learn

more about what works and what does not work. 

On the basis of the approach outlined earlier in

the report, the RD&E will take an integrated and

patient-centred approach to meeting its quality

priorities over the coming year. Clearly

articulated and agreed targets and incentives will

help drive forward specific initiatives designed to

address quality improvement. 

However, the Board, senior managers and

clinicians are aware that quality improvements

are most likely when there is investment and

support for staff training, when there is a culture

of collaboration, when staff feel valued and

listened to, when staff are free to innovate and

when the culture of the organisation enables

staff to improve the quality of services offered by

the Trust. 

An empowered and motivated workforce will

inevitably be more proactive in enhancing the

experience that patients have in hospital – a key

determinant of our users’ perception of quality. 

Pr i o r i t i e s

98

f o r  2010/11



0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80

1 2 3 4 5

Boost key measures on patient experience
& cleanliness
When members and the general public were asked to consider what measures they would use in

thinking about the quality of services provided in the RD&E, they rated ‘what other patients said about

the hospital’ as important. Forty six per cent of those asked said that the percentage of patients who

would recommend the hospital to relatives and friends was extremely important in judging whether

the hospital provided quality care. Fifty three per cent of those who responded said that the

percentage of patients who rated their care as either good or excellent was extremely important in

judging whether the hospital provided quality care. In comparison only 20 per cent said that meeting

government health targets was extremely important and 24% said that ratings or assessments made

by independent organisations/regulators were extremely important. 

How do members rate quality issues?

In March, the Trust contacted around three and half thousand members to ask them some key

questions on quality issues. We received some 372 responses - over ten per cent return rate which

was encouraging. The results of the survey are shown below:

On a scale of 1-5 (with 1 being unimportant and 5 being extremely important)

how would you rank the importance of the following factors in helping you judge

whether the RD&E is providing high quality healthcare. 372 responses
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On a scale of 1-5 (with 1 being unimportant and 5 being extremely important)

how would you rank the usefulness of the following factors in helping you judge

whether the RD&E is providing quality healthcare. 372 responses received

2.1: Whether the hospital was meeting all Government healthcare targets (e.g. waiting times etc)

2.2: The average number of days patients stay over night in hospital

2.3: The percentage of patients who rated their care as either 'good' or 'excellent'

2.4: The percentage of patients who would recommend the hospital to their family or friends

2.5: The number of complaints/ concerns/ compliments received

2.6: The rating or assessment given to the hospital from independent organisations

Question 2 

2.1* 2.2* 2.3* 2.4* 2.5* 2.6*



Whether the hospital was

meeting all Government

healthcare targets (e.g. waiting times etc)

101

2.1:

1 2 3 4 5

12%
20%

23%
26%

19%

The average number of days

patients stay over night in

hospital

2.2:

1 2 3 4 5

21%14%

14%

27%
24%

The percentage of patients who

rated their care as either 'good'

or 'excellent'

2.3:

1 2 3 4 5

1%

53%

9%

37%

0%

The percentage of patients who

would recommend the hospital to

their family or friends

2.4:

1 2 3 4 5

2%

46%

13%

37%

1%

The number of complaints/

concerns/ compliments received
2.5:

1 2 3 4 5

34%

33%

26%

0%
7%

The rating or assessment given

to the hospital from independent

organisations

2.6:

1 2 3 4 5

24%

38%

21%

5%

11%



Pr io r i t i e s  f o r  2010/11

Boosting key measures on
patient experience &
cleanliness
A critical component of quality focuses on patient

perception of the care received. In setting out

the following indicators, which were influenced

by what was identified as important through the

consultation exercise, we sought to both

benchmark where we currently are on these

metrics as well as underline the fact that we are

setting out a high level of aspiration (from “good

to great” by focusing on the very highest levels

of attainable perception i.e. “excellent” and not

just “good” and “very clean” and not just

“clean”). 

Key measures:

� Quality of care: To ensure that at least 60%
of our patients rate their care as excellent in
2010.  In the 2009 national inpatient
survey, 50% of respondents rated their care
as excellent.

� Cleanliness of the hospital: To ensure that
80% of our patients rate the hospital as
“very clean” in the 2010 national inpatient
survey. 74% of inpatients rated the hospital
or ward as very clean in the 2009 national
survey.

� Recommending the hospital to family and
friends (using the NQAT tool): To be
maintained at 95% or more.

Patient experience data
The Care Quality Commission requires all NHS

acute Trust in England to participate in an annual

inpatient survey. In 2009 the 7th inpatient

survey was undertaken.  

� The 2009 survey showed a significant
improvement in responses relating to privacy
and dignity. We have seen a significant
decrease in the number of patients reporting
that they shared sleeping and bathroom
accommodation with patients of the opposite
sex. This improvement in scores relating to
single sex accommodation reflects the work
undertaken in 2009 to increase the number
of single sex bays and rooms.

In 2010/11 we will continue to review our

ward environments with a view to increasing

the number of single room accommodation

available for patients. We will continue with

the ward deep clean programme to ensure

patients are cared for in a very clean

environment. 

� The RD&E scores highly in questions relating
to hospital and ward cleanliness with 69% of
respondents scoring the hospital & ward as
very clean compared with the national
average score of 65%. This reflects the work
undertaken in 2008/09 by staff to ensure our
hospital environment meets the high
standards expected of patients.  

� In previous surveys patients indicated that
they wanted secure storage for personal
belongings. In 2008/09 we invested in new
lockers for every bed space and this has
resulted in a very positive response from
patients in the 2009 survey with 50% of
patients reporting that they have secure
storage for their personal belongings
compared to 31% nationally.
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� The 2008 results showed that 60% of
patients who needed help with eating
received help. This resulted in a focussed
piece of work led by the Trust Nutrition
Steering Committee and the Protected
Mealtime Group. In 2009, 72% of patients
who needed help reported that they received
it compared with 62% nationally. Over the
next year we will continue to improve the
meal service and we will be reviewing the
menu for patient meals.

� In 2008/09 we introduced the electronic
Nursing Quality Assessment Tool (NQAT). To
date 447 patients have participated in the
NQAT survey. This audit tool incorporates the
11 Essence of Care benchmarks, Nursing and
Midwifery nursing Metrics and the Royal
College of Nursing Observations of Care into
an audit with 173 quality measures. The
NQAT consists of a real time patient survey, 

documentation audit and a clinical
observation. These are combined to provide
a standard measure for the quality of nursing
care. Clinical staff undertake the audit for
each other to maximise objectivity. Every
ward completes a baseline audit, implements
an action plan then re-audits to measure
outcomes. The audit cycle is determined by
the score achieved; Bronze is 12 weeks,
Silver 16 weeks and Gold 24 weeks. We
began piloting the NQAT in the summer of
2008. All Inpatient wards have so far
conducted an audit with many now in their
3rd round. Ward matrons are working to
ensure they achieve the highest score
possible to gain the gold standard. The tool is
under constant review and in 2010/11 we will
be focussing on some new clinical quality
measures and involvement of other
healthcare professionals.
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The advantage of this real-time system is illustrated by the ability to react to the responses promptly.
The slight drop in the responses relating to patients feeling cared for relates to 3 patients who were
able to provide feedback that could be acted on immediately.

All acute ward areas have completed at least two NQAT audits and give the Trust an average score of
86.6%.
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Enhancing clinical excellence throughout the

Trust remains a central priority for the RD&E. We

understand that patients have the right to expect

the same high standard of care and treatment

whichever service they are using. Clinical

effectiveness is made up of a range of quality

improvement activities and initiatives including:

The implementation of quality improvement tools
(such as clinical audit, evaluation, rapid cycle
improvement)  to review and improve
treatments and services based on: 

� the views of patients, service users and staff 

� evidence from incidents, near-misses,
clinical risks and risk analysis 

� outcomes from treatments or services 

� measurement of performance to assess
whether the team/department/organisation
is achieving the desired goals 

� identifying areas of care that need further
research

� Information systems to assess current practice
and provide evidence of improvement

� Assessment of evidence as to whether
services/treatments are cost effective

� Development and use of systems and
structures that promote learning and learning
across the organisation.

Furthermore, for the RD&E, clinical

excellence relies on the quality and

motivation of our staff and:

� the skills and competencies of those delivering
care

� how effectively staff work together in teams,
across departments or NHS organisations

� the support from leaders and management to
encourage staff to achieve best practice.
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Clinical Excellence

There is no single hospital-wide measure of

clinical effectiveness. Therefore, we have

selected three particular issues that we have

been discussing with NHS Devon (as part of our

contractual requirements) as useful markers of

quality and which also relate to the profile of

patients that come into the RD&E. We have also

selected a fourth measure relating to staff

satisfaction in recognition that clinical leadership,

culture and training are key determinants of

clinical effectiveness.

� Reducing pressure ulcers has been
recognised as an indicator of quality care

� Reducing time to surgery for hip fractures can
have enormous benefits in terms of health
outcomes and wellbeing for patients and their
families 

� Enhanced recovery through improved
prepartaion for surgery - there is the potential
for a speedier postoperative recovery
pathway

� Enhancing staff satisfaction leads to
improvement in the quality of care and is
linked to better patient experience results.

Reducing Pressure ulcers: Pressure ulcers

create a number of significant difficulties,

psychologically, physically and clinically, to

patients, carers and their families, and

challenges for clinicians. These challenges

include clinical decisions on methods of

assessment and treatments to be used for

individuals with an existing pressure ulcer. 

Given the profile of patients at the RD&E – many

of whom fall into the category of people

vulnerable to being affected by pressure ulcers,

reducing the number of pressure ulcers is

indicative of clinical quality.

Pressure ulcers are more likely to occur in

those who: are seriously ill; are neurologically

compromised; have impaired mobility or who

are immobile (including those wearing a

prostheses, body brace or plaster cast); also

those who suffer from impaired nutrition,

obesity, poor posture, or use equipment such

as seating or beds which do not provide

appropriate pressure relief. 

Research indicates that pressure ulcers

represent a major burden of sickness and

reduced quality of life for patients, their carers

and their families. 

Moreover the presence of pressure ulcers has

led to increased length of hospital stay. 

105
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Key measures:

Reducing pressure ulcers: Reducing the incidence of pressure ulcers acquired following inpatient

admission (Number of grade 2 and above pressure ulcers developed as an inpatient per 1000 bed

days). Measured by whether there are less than 0.84 (grade 2 or above) pressure ulcers per 1000

bed days by April 2011.

The number of patients who develop a pressure ulcer is small - currently for every 1000 patients

admitted, 0.89 develop a grade 2 pressure ulcer. This low incidence has been achieved through a

number of measures:

� Improved monitoring of those patients at risk

� The purchase of a new electric bed for every bed space

� The purchase of a pressure relieving mattresses for every bed. 

Advances in therapy are being made available all the time and we want to ensure our patients benefit

from these advances.  In 2010/11 the team will be reviewing the training of nursing staff to ensure

we can update staff regularly on current evidence-based best practice regarding pressure ulcer

prevention and management. This will involve the development of new approaches to education

including electronic updates and assessments.
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What are we
doing in 2010/11?

Whilst the number of patients who develop a pressure
ulcer is low, we aim to reduce it further. In 2008/09

we improved our assessment and monitoring of patients through
the introduction of a computerised assessment and recording

system. In 2010/11 we will be expanding the use of this electronic
assessment tool. 

Those patients at risk of developing a pressure ulcer are referred
to the specialist tissue viability nursing team who provide advice

and support to the ward nursing teams.  In 2010/11 this team will
be reviewing the teaching and assessment of ward nurses to
ensure they have the right skills to recognise those at risk

and take appropriate preventative action.



Reducing time to surgery for hip fractures: Getting patients who have suffered from falls which

have resulted in hip fractures into surgery quickly is important because it leads to improved clinical

outcomes. As such, ensuring that the vast majority of patients are in surgery within 24 hours is a good

overall indicator of clinical effectiveness.

For patients with a hip fracture, care needs to be quickly and carefully organised to prepare them for

surgery.  By quickly stabilising patients and ensuring that expert clinical teams respond to their frail

conditions and complex needs, the most positive outcomes can be achieved.  For many patients, best

practice care, from the moment patients arrive at hospital, can make the difference between

independence and lack of independence, and even life and death. A better quality service for hip

fracture patients can have enormous benefits in terms of health outcomes and well-being for patients

and their families.

Key measure:

Time to surgery: Improving time to surgery for patients with a fractured neck of femur. Measured

by the number of adult inpatients requiring surgery for a fractured neck of femur who are operated

on within 24 hours of admission or becoming fit for surgery (whichever is the earlier). 
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What are we
doing in 2010/11?

We have identified the aspiration to increase the number
of patients who suffer a fractured neck of femur undergoing

surgery within 24 hours as part of the CQUIN process this year.
The target for achievement will be agreed with NHS Devon
shortly. We will be reviewing and refining our emergency

admission pathway for this group of patients to ensure they
move through the Emergency Department quickly.

We also intend to expand the Nurse Practitioner role to
ensure they can assess the patient and admit

to the ward. 
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Enhanced recovery: The underlying principle is

to enable patients to recover from surgery and

leave hospital sooner.

To do this it is essential that:

� There is an exchange of information regarding

realistic expectations about the risks and

benefits of surgery. These will be discussed

with patients to ensure they have the right

information to make an informed decision

whether to proceed with surgery or not

� The patient is in the best possible condition for

surgery, therefore identifying and correcting

any existing health concerns is important and

can be done by the GP prior to referral or at

the pre-operative assessment

� The patient has the best possible management
during and after surgery to reduce pain, gut
dysfunction and immobilisation using
appropriate anaesthetic, fluids, pain relief and
minimally invasive techniques where
appropriate

� The patient experiences the best post-
operative rehabilitation. This enables early
recovery and discharge from hospital by way
of planned nutrition and early mobilisation
after surgery. 

Key measure:

The enhanced recovery programme will be
implemented for a number of surgical
pathways including those for urology,
gynaecology and colorectal surgery.
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Enhancing staff satisfaction: staff are

critically important to clinical effectiveness. 

Staff satisfaction: Increasing the percentage of

staff who felt satisfied with the quality of work

and patient care they are able to provide.

Percentage of staff who were satisfied with the

quality of care they provide to patients above the

2009 baseline. 

2008 – 80%
2009 – 84%
(Source: NHS National Staff Survey 2009)

The staff survey reports are calculated on the

sample survey which equates to approximately

7.5% of RD&E staff and is weighted for average

staff groups nationally in acute trusts and adjusts

the results for numbers responding.  This does

mean that there are, in some instances,

significant variances between the CQC report and

our full census which had a response rate of over

51%

The CQC placed the Trust in the top (best) 20%

of acute trusts for eight of the key findings based

on approximately 7.5% of our staff;

� Staff recommending the Trust as a place to
work and receive treatment

� Health and safety training

� Equality and diversity training

� Flexible working options

� Work-related stress

� Experiencing physical violence from staff

� Experiencing bullying/harassment from staff

� Experiencing bullying and harassment from
patients and relatives

Areas identified for improvement include 

� Staff reporting they have an interesting job.
Score 79%  (Acute Trust Average 79%)

� Opportunities to develop potential. Score 43%
(Acute Trust Average 43%)

� Job Related Training. Score 75% (Acute Trust
Average 76%)

� Effective Action against violence and
harassment. Score 3.57 (Acute Trust Average
3.53)
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What are we
doing in 2010/11?

Our Human Resources department is introducing a
new system of staff engagement called ‘Staff Say’.

This enables staff to participate in discussion events
throughout the year and contribute to decision

making on a number of key issues. Our first event in
April was very successful and resulted in a number of

innovative ideas to improve the patient and staff
experience. We are also strengthening our staff

Health and Wellbeing activity.
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An important component of ensuring that all

patients receive a high standard of quality care

at the RD&E is the assurance that the Trust is

keeping patients safe and that it complies with

national targets and the expectations of its

regulator bodies. The Trust Board takes the issue

of protecting patients from harm extremely

seriously and it has a range of mechanisms to

ensure that it actively monitors and manages

patient safety issues and promotes a culture in

which safety is prioritised. 

Ensuring the care patients receive is of a high

standard and safe is a key priority. The RD&E is

currently participating in the South West Quality

and Patient Safety Initiative. This links work

undertaken in the United States of America at

the Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI)

with work underway in the UK. This safety

initiative encompasses a number of safety

innovations to reduce patient deterioration.

These include the implementation of the vital

signs scoring system, safety briefings and a

smart system of communication. There is also a

focus on reducing medication errors, reducing

Venous thromboembolism (VTE) and reducing

healthcare acquired infections. 

Feedback from members and the public

demonstrates that the control of infection

remains a top priority and this is therefore

reflected in our priorities for 2010/11 as well as

our overall strategic directions (2007-12). In

addition to healthcare acquired infections, the

Trust will seek to make progress on other areas

of standards insofar as they relate to meeting

minimum standards such as reducing the harm

resulting from avoidable hospital stays and

improving the information on discharge for

patients regarding their medication.

Patient safety - Key measures:

Infection: The incidence of healthcare acquired

infections is an indicator of the overall approach

towards patient safety. Good practice should

significantly reduce the cases of MRSA and C.

difficile infections. For example, good hand

hygiene, the management of intravenous

devices, the identification of patients coming into

the hospital with community acquired infections,

a clean environment and antimicrobial

prescribing for resistant organisms.

Healthcare Associated Infections (HAIs) are
infections acquired in the hospital or other
healthcare setting.  Infections are caused by
germs such as bacteria, fungi or viruses
entering the body. They can be minor and stay
in one area, like a boil or a chest infection or
they can spread throughout the body, like 'flu
or septicaemia (blood poisoning). The most
common HAIs are MRSA and C. difficile. In
2009/10 we had fewer MRSA bloodstream
infections and C. difficile were well below the
target set. We intend to build on this success
in 2010/11.
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3 Keep patients safe & ensure they receive a uniform
service

Key measure:
Healthcare Acquired Infections

(MRSA/C. Difficile); we are awaiting
confirmation of our targets for 2010/11

from NHS Devon.



Healthcare acquired infections (MRSA) reduction figures: 
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Reduce Venous thromboembolism (VTE).

Ensuring that patients are risk assessed for their

likelihood of developing a VTE, reduces the risk

of patients developing pulmonary embolisms and

has the potential to save thousands of lives each

year.  

Venous thromboembolism (VTE) is a condition

in which a blood clot (thrombus) forms in a

vein. Blood flow through the affected vein can

be limited by the clot, and may cause swelling

and pain. Venous thrombosis occurs most

commonly in the deep veins of the leg or

pelvis; this is known as a deep vein

thrombosis (DVT). An embolism occurs if all or

a part of the clot breaks off from the site

where it forms and travels through the veins.

If the clot lodges in the lung a potentially

serious and sometimes fatal condition,

pulmonary embolism (PE) occurs. The term

VTE embraces both the acute conditions of

DVT and PE, and also the chronic conditions

which may arise after acute VTE - both

problems being associated with significant ill

health and disability.

Information on Discharge: The national

inpatient survey shows that we need to improve

the amount and quality of information that

patients receive at discharge. 

44% of patients reported that they did not

receive adequate explanation about medication

side effects on discharge. 57% did not receive

adequate information about what they should

and should not do on leaving hospital. 
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What are we
doing in 2010/11?

We will be introducing a new

approach to patient discharge information in 2010.

This will prompt patients to ask the right staff the right

questions about their discharge medication and what to

do if they are worried following discharge.  By simplifying

discharge information we intend to improve the number of

patients who report that they received the right amount of

information about their medication and the number who

know what to do if they were worried. We will be

implementing this approach to all acute wards

this year.

Key Measure:
VTE: We will be risk assessing 90%
adult inpatients for the likelihood of

developing Venous thromboembolism
by April 2011 



Productivity

Although productivity and value for money is not

part of the “official” definition of quality, our view

is that these issues are an important aspect of

quality healthcare and are likely to become more

prominent over the coming years as a result of

the recession and its impact on public services. 

In addition, we take the view that many of the

productivity and efficiency initiatives that we are

putting in place are driven primarily with the aim

of driving up quality but at a lower cost. It

therefore seems sensible to include productivity

measures in our report.

Over the last few years, the RD&E has taken a

number of initiatives to increase efficiency and

reduce costs whilst protecting or enhancing the

quality of our services. 

The RD&E has been involved in work on

‘Productive Wards’ for the last two years. This is

an initiative designed to improve particular

working practices such as shift handovers,

logistics, better use of information boards and

decluttering the environment. 

These efficiencies have helped release greater

time for direct patient care as well as enhancing

staff morale. Similar principles have also been

applied to theatres and this approach is being

rolled out to other parts of the hospital and

across the NHS nationally. 

Particular attention has been focused on how

departments and services work together and

what can be done to develop greater efficiencies

by doing things differently. 

Saving time

Cannulation and Venepuncture trolleys have

been introduced on all RD&E wards to make it

easier for staff to locate this equipment. Staff

working across different wards will benefit from

this Productive Ward initiative with the aim of

improving patient care by having everything at

hand and to ensure that the correct protocols are

consistently followed all the time. 

Being able to locate equipment promptly should

release more time for staff to care for their

patients. 

The bespoke trolleys are bright red so they are

clearly distinguishable from other ward trolleys

and they have a standardised layout so each

drawer contains the same items on each ward,

though specialist areas may make minor

adjustments for their specific needs. 

It is estimated that over two minutes per

procedure will be saved and this adds up to

approximately 42 hours of saved time per week.

In addition, the new trolleys are likely to result in

better compliance to peripheral cannulation

insertion care and a reduction in phlebitis and

line induce infection.
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At a glance

From June, standardised “at a glance” patient

status boards will be introduced in all ward areas

across the Trust. These boards will support safer,

more reliable and efficient care by : making shift

handover quicker and safer for patients, making

sure the patient journey from admission to

discharge runs smoothly without delays, and

saving time looking for patient information.  This

initiative will improve the quality of patient

pathways and aid efficiency. 
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What are we
doing in 2010/11?

The quality agenda for the RD&E will continue to

evolve and the issue of enhancing productivity and value

for money will have greater prominence. During 2010/11,

the Trust will identify specific targets and measures which it will

put in place so that from next year’s report, we can provide much

greater clarity on what we are setting out to achieve and how we will

assess how well we are doing. Over the next year, the Trust will

embark on a range of activities to ensure that our services are being

delivered as efficiently as possible by:

� Generating new ideas to reduce costs without compromising
the quality of patient care

� Working with our partner organisations in innovative ways
to meet the needs of patients by offering care

closer to home 

� Reducing waste and duplication



During 2009/10, the Trust continued to maintain

and improve patient services despite a number

of key risks and challenges, summarised as

follows:

� Significant rises in emergency attendances
and admissions, particularly in the last quarter
of 2009/10

� Growth in demand and increased referrals for
elective services

� The financial position of the Trust’s main
commissioner, NHS Devon

� Outbreaks of diarrhoea and vomiting illnesses
which are present in the wider community and
which are periodically brought into hospitals,
causing bed closures and cancellations of
non-urgent elective activity.

A key measure of success is the Trust’s ability to

manage these risks whilst also continuing to

deliver excellent performance and patient care.

The Trust achieved an ‘excellent’ rating for

financial management and ‘good’ for quality of

services in the 2008/09 The Care Quality

Commission annual health check.  This has been

achieved during 2009/10 with the achievement

of the following key targets:

� Achieving the maximum 18 week treatment
target with over 90% of admitted patients and
98% of non-admitted patients receiving
treatment within 18 weeks of GP referral   

� Exceeding national targets with 88% of
admitted patients and 95% non-admitted
patients receiving treatment within 15 weeks
of GP referral

� Reducing waiting times for access to medical
imaging with 95% of patients waiting a
maximum waiting time of less than 4 weeks
for a routine appointment  

� A 17% in-year reduction in MRSA
Bacteraemia  

� A 32% in-year reduction in Clostridium
Difficile cases

� Achievement of cancer waiting time targets.

There are however a small number of areas

where the Trust has not fully met its targets:

� Cancelled operations on the day of admission. 
When faced with bed pressures, the Trust
avoids cancelling elective cases wherever
possible. This sometimes leads to
cancellations at short notice

� Discharge summaries issued to GPs within 48
hours.  The Trust has not met this target,
largely because there has been no electronic
system to transmit the summaries to GP
practices.  The Trust is developing an
electronic system to do this from 2010/11.

The RD&E is working with its NHS partners as

well as redesigning its service provision to ensure

that it reduces the number of cancelled

operations, improves discharge summaries and

continues to aim to reduce Referral To Treatment

times as far as possible.
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A Sta tements  f rom:  NHS Devon

The Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation Trust

has a reputation for its focus on the continuous

improvement of quality of care within the services

it provides, and as lead commissioner, NHS Devon

has been pleased to work in partnership with the

Trust to support this approach. The Quality Account

for 2009/10 describes the achievements, priorities

and planned actions to drive forward quality

improvement focusing on national, local and

regional priorities, those areas which we know are

important to patients. The Quality Account also

recognises the importance of not only traditional

aspects of quality but also the issues of consistency

and productivity that underpin quality

improvement. NHS Devon has been happy to

support the development of the Nursing Quality

Assessment Tool which collects objective and

contemporary patient opinion that is then analysed

and reported in a league table format to wards, this

has provided incentives to ward clinicians to

continuously respond and improve care. 

The Trust has demonstrated its improvement on

the priorities identified with last year’s account,

MRSA and C. Difficile targets have again this year

been achieved, and excelled, and the Trust focus

on the elimination of avoidable infections is

obvious which the narrative in the report

describes in detail. Although the Trust has

performed well against most of its quality

indicators it is recognised that there are areas

where improvement has been slower than

expected. We will work closely to address these 

issues in 2010/11 and beyond. Overall in the

year 2009/10 we would agree with the progress

on quality improvement described within the

Quality Account and we have been witness to the

absolute commitment of the Trust to put quality

of care at the heart of everything it does. 

The 2010/11 priorities described by the Trust are

consistent with the priorities agreed with NHS

Devon in improving the experience of patients in

the care they receive, working to increase

reliability and productivity, ensuring patient

safety and forwarding clinical excellence.  NHS

Devon has also worked with the Trust to support

improvements through CQUIN in 2010/11

providing incentives for improvement, which had

not been in place in 2009/10. In particular, the

focus on prevention of pressure ulcers and

improvements in the time to surgery for

fractured neck of femur is supported by NHS

Devon as we know that these are issues which

can make a significant difference to the outcome

for patients both clinically and in terms of their

experience. 

The alignment of the Trusts philosophy for

quality  of care with NHS Devon’s is critical, as it

is only a partnership of commissioner and

provider and its managers and clinicians that will

drive improved outcomes for patients. The

description of the achievements made in

2009/10 and the focus on quality during 2010/11

demonstrate in absolute terms the commitment

of the Trust from ward to board in improving

quality of care and we support wholeheartedly

the approach the Trust has taken and its

priorities for the future.

n n e x e s
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S ta tements  f rom:  DEVON COUNTY  COUNCIL  
H E A LT H  A N D  A D U LT S ’  S E R V I C E S
O V E R V I E W / S C R U T I N Y  C O M M I TT E E

Devon County Council’s Health and Adults

Services Scrutiny Committee (SC)

determined to comment on the Royal Devon

& Exeter NHS Foundation Trust’s (RDE)

Quality Account 2010-11. All references in

this commentary relate to the reporting

period 1 April 2009 to the date of this

statement and pertain only to the RDE’s

relationship with the SC. 

The SC believes that the Quality Account

2010/11 is a fair reflection of the services

provided by the RDE and gives a comprehensive

coverage of the provider’s services, based on the

knowledge the SC has of the RDE. The RDE and

the SC maintain a positive working relationship

and senior managers, practitioners and

consultants have made invaluable contributions

to the SC’s reviews. The SC has been impressed

by the work and innovative approaches, e.g.

service user accessibility and carer involvement.

The SC would like to highlight, however, the

following concerns about service areas which it

considers need additional and careful

consideration. The draft Quality Account stated

that only 76% of patients felt fully involved in

decisions about their care and treatment and the

SC recognises that the RDE strives to ensure that

patients feel cared for, especially in the

Emergency Department.

The RDE’s draft Quality Account recognises that

“experience for patients covers a wide range of

aspects including travel and access”. The recent

rural access to health task group identified the

need to more effectively support voluntary

transport providers and for example align

hospital appointments with transport times. The

same task group recommended developing as a

matter of urgency a co-ordinated approach

between the County Council and all NHS trusts

in Devon in the provision of patient transport.

The task group also recommended identifying

existing post holders in each NHS trust in Devon

as lead officers to champion this piece of work

within clear deadlines and to free resources

through integrated use of County Council and

NHS vehicles. 

The SC is convinced that savings could be

realised if existing transport resources were

audited, research was undertaken into usage

patterns of different transport modes and a more

efficient and co-ordinated use of resources

established between the County Council and

health trusts. For example, the use of private

ambulances at acute trusts could potentially be

reduced. 

The SC also remains concerned about the

incompatibility of IT systems and patient records

across NHS trusts and other bodies, such as

adult services or GPs.

The RDE’s draft Quality Account also prominently

nominated enhancing personal experience as

one of the priorities for 2010-11.  The current

support for carers task group raised concerns

about carer involvement in patient care where

staff shortages occurred as well as the need to

improve information for carers when patients

were moved in and between wards. The task

group’s report is scheduled to be published in

September 2010.

COMMENTARY ON THE ROYAL DEVON & EXETER NHS
FOUNDATION TRUST



A RD&E Governors ’  comment  on  the  

The governors welcome the opportunity to

participate in this new approach to

reporting on the quality of care in the RD&E. 

The report clearly sets out the principles

underpinning the Trust’s approach to quality and

gives a comprehensive account of the measures

in place to sustain and improve all aspects of

patient care. It is good to see the value placed by

the Trust in the involvement of patients in the

evaluation of their care and to see the

introduction of new ways of obtaining patients’

views. The internet is likely to appeal in

particular to younger members of the population

and the recent on-line survey is an interesting

example of how this could be used. 

The wider roll-out of the NQAT Tool will provide a

more comprehensive and real-time evaluation by

patients on key aspects of their care. There are

some concerns that ratings for privacy during

examination or treatment although high, appear

to have dropped slightly, and governors will be

watching for improvements in this measure in

future reports. The annual inpatient surveys

carried out by the Care Quality Commission also

provide important information on care quality.

Whilst being encouraged by the improvements

shown in the latest survey, governors share

patients’ concerns about issues around such

things as mealtime assistance and discharge

information.   Governors are provided with

regular reports on key issues and are able to

question Directors about progress with quality

improvement activities. 

Governors are impressed with the considerable

reduction in infection rates for C. difficile and

MRSA which reflects the huge efforts made by

the Trust to maintain high standards of

cleanliness and infection control measures, in

spite of the many challenges of the recent hard

winter. We also appreciate the value of the

Trust’s forward-thinking approach to efficiency

with initiatives such as the ‘productive ward’ in

light of the anticipated financial constraints at

national level. 

We are pleased to see the key clinical excellence

measures agreed with NHS Devon and will be

hoping for early benefits from the actions

currently being put in place to reduce the risk of

pressure ulcers; minimise delays in the

management of patients with hip fractures; and

to improve the pre and post-operative

management of surgical patients. A crucial

element in the current financial climate will be

staff satisfaction and the introduction of the

‘Staff Say’ programme will help to enable staff to

be engaged in key decisions.

With regard to the National Core Standards,

governors understand and accept the reasons for

the difficulties in fully meeting the targets for

cancelled operations, timing of discharge

summaries and Referral To Treatment times in

orthopaedics. We will be watching for

improvements in these areas following

implementation of the various proposed actions. 

Clinical audit is the on-going process by which

clinicians evaluate the quality of their clinical

work and identify areas for improvement. The

report shows that the Trust is partaking in an

n n e x e s
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qua l i t y  accounts  repor t

impressive number of nationally-led audits

across a wide range of specialties; the benefits

are demonstrated when subsequent actions for

improvement are reported. For example, many

changes in the care and management of stroke

patients have been introduced since the Stroke

Audit of 2008, and we hope the effectiveness of

these changes will be demonstrated when the

Audit is repeated this year. Likewise, we will be

looking for evidence of reduced risk to patients

by the Trust’s participation in the South West

Quality and Patient Safety initiatives. 

This report provides good evidence of the Trust’s

commitment to providing safe, high quality care

for every patient. The Council of Governors, on

behalf of members and the wider public, will

continue to take an active interest in all aspects

of quality in the RD&E with a particular focus on

the effectiveness of change and improvement in

outcomes. 

Jill Gladstone, Dianah Pritchett-Farrell, Richard

May, Cynthia Thornton, Linda Vijeh on behalf of

the Council of Governors   

Thank you for sending your Quality Account

to LINk Devon for comment. 

The Host circulated the report to the Strategic

Planning Group but unfortunately due to time

restraints and Annual Reporting deadlines, the

LINk is unable to make an effective comment on

the Quality Accounts this year.

We hope you appreciate that this is a learning

curve for us all and there simply has not been

enough time for the LINk to look fully at every

Trust Account for this year.

The Strategic Planning Group has however, looked

at the Overview,Scrutiny Committee comments

and would like to support their findings.

I understand that comments and views

expressed by the LINk and gained through the

LINk community engagement programme, are

routinely sent to you and I trust that these can

be used to inform your Accounts.

We hope to create a sub group next year in order

to give this full attention, so we look forward to

receiving your next set of Quality Accounts.

Yours sincerely

Rebecca Keeling

Contracts and Policy Coordinator

LINk Devon

COMMENT FROM
LINk DEVON

119



OF THE  QUALITY  REPORTO

Measure 2008/09 2009/10

Safety measures reported

1. Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio (HSMR) 92.3 82.4

2. Adverse Events (Adverse Events per 1000 bed days) 56.7 59.4

3. 'Never Events' that occur within the Trust 0 0

4. Patients with MRSA (bacteraemia) infection/10,000 bed days 0.591 0.158
(+ 48hrs)

5. Patients with C.difficile infection/1,000 bed days (+ 72hrs) 0.571 0.394

6. Hospital slips, trips and falls (inpatients only) 1547 1567

Clinical outcome measures reported

7. Stroke: % of stroke patients with a LOS >3 days who spend 55% 56%
90% of their time in hospital in the ASU

8. Stroke: Patients who suffer a stroke & NICE Guidance suggest N/A N/A
should have an urgent CT imaging to receive CT scan within
30mins of arrival in hospital

9. Stroke: Proportion of high risk TIA patients who are treated N/A N/A
within 24hrs

10. Proportion of those requiring surgery for fracture of the neck of 66.1% 77.0%
femur who are operated on within 48hr (of becoming fit for surgery)

11. % of (elective) in-patients who have a pre-assessment prior to 66% 76%
their procedure

12. % of (elective) day case patients who have a pre-assessment 57% 72%
prior to their procedure

13. % of (elective) patients admitted and having their procedure the 82.2% 83.8%
same day

14. % patients given enough privacy when discussing treatment 77% 74%

15. % of patients who felt they were treated with dignity/respect 83% 84%

16. % patients who rated care received as very good/excellent 83% 85%

v e r v i e w
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Performance against key national priorities & National
Core Standards 
The Trust reported a strong performance, both operationally and financially, in the delivery
of its services during 2009/10.  The tables at the end of the report set out how we have
done in relation to National Core Standards and national priorities.

During Quarter 1, 2 and 4 the Trust maintained a “green” rating under Monitor’s compliance regime
for mandatory services and governance.  This is the highest level of performance against the
regulator’s key performance indicators. RD&E rated amber in Quarter 3 because A&E four-hour
performance dipped below the 98% target and because the Trust flagged a possible risk of achieving
Referral to Treatment targets during the period due to increased activity and reduced capacity.
However, the Referral to Treatment risk did not materialise and the Trust achieved this target.
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Measure 2008/09 2009/10

Patient Experience measures

1. % of patients felt safe N/A 98.95%

2. % of patients who felt cared for N/A 97.38%

3. % patients who would recommend hospital to relative/friend N/A 97.90%

National targets & regulatory requirements

Clostridium difficile year on year reduction ( target ) 145 (230) 100 (168)

MRSA - maintaining the annual number of MRSA bloodstream 15 (18) 7 (17)
infections at less than half the 2003/04 level ( target )

Maximum waiting time of 31 days from decision to treat to start of 94.3% 96.0%
treatment extended to cover all cancer treatments

Maximum waiting time of 62 days from all referrals to treatment for 86.0% 85.6%
all cancers

Maximum waiting time of two weeks from urgent GP referral to first 99.3% 98.5%
outpatient appointment for all urgent suspect cancer referrals

18-week maximum wait from point of referral to treatment 91.7% 91.7%
(admitted patients)

18-week maximum wait from point of referral to treatment 96.6% 96.4%
(non-admitted patients)

Maximum waiting time of 4hrs in A&E from arrival to admission, 98.8% 98.6%
transfer or discharge

Maxiumum waiting time of 31 days from diagnosis to treatment for 99.0% N/A
all cancers

Maxium waiting time for 62 days from urgent referral to treatment for 95.2% N/A
all cancers

Key process indicators

Patients treated for 90% of stay in a Stroke Unit 68%

Screened for swallowing disorders with first 24hrs 64%

Brain scan within 24hrs of stroke 72%

Commenced asprin by 48hrs after stroke 92%

Physiotherapy assessment within first 72hrs of admission 96%

Assessment by Occupational Therapist within 4 days 78%

Weighed at least once during admission 87%

Mood assessed by discharge 94%

Rehabilitation goals agreed by the multi-disciplinary team 95%
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A
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Royal Devon and

Exeter NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to and did participate in during 2009/10 are as

follows:

Audit/National Confidential Audit/National Confidential Participated
Enquiry Title Enquiry Title In

PICANet PICANet Yes

Vascular Surgery Database Vascular Surgery Database Yes

ICNARC ICNARC Yes

PROMs – Total Hip Replacement PROMs – Total Hip Replacement Yes

PROMS – Knee Replacement PROMS – Knee Replacement Yes

PROMS – Varicose Veins PROMS – Varicose Veins Yes

PROMS – Groin Hernia Repair PROMS – Groin Hernia Repair Yes

CEMACH CEMACH Yes

NCEPOD – Deaths in Acute Hospitals NCEPOD – Deaths in Acute Hospitals Yes

NCEPOD – Acute Kidney Injury NCEPOD – Acute Kidney Injury Yes

NCEPOD – Parenteral Nutrition NCEPOD – Parenteral Nutrition Yes

NCEPOD – Emergency & Elective NCEPOD – Emergency & Elective Yes
Surgery in the Elderly Surgery in the Elderly

NCEPOD – Peri-operative Care NCEPOD – Peri-operative Care Yes

NCEPOD – Paediatric Surgery NCEPOD – Paediatric Surgery Yes

NJR – Hip and Knee replacements NJR – Hip and Knee replacements Yes

Renal Registry: renal replacement Renal Registry: renal replacement Yes
therapy therapy

NCLA: Lung Cancer NCLA: Lung Cancer Yes

NBOCAP: bowel cancer NBOCAP: bowel cancer Yes

DAHNO: head and neck cancer DAHNO: head and neck cancer Yes

MINAP MINAP Yes

Heart Failure Audit Heart Failure Audit Yes

Pulmonary Hypertension Audit Pulmonary Hypertension Audit No

NHFD: hip fracture NHFD: hip fracture Yes 

TARN TARN Yes

NHS Blood & Transplant: potential NHS Blood & Transplant: potential Yes
donor audit donor audit - ITU

n n e x e  A
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The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Royal Devon and

Exeter NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to and did participate in during 2009/10 are as

follows:

Audit/National Confidential Audit/National Confidential Participated
Enquiry Title Enquiry Title In

National Kidney Care Audit National Kidney Care Audit Yes

National Sentinel Stroke Audit National Sentinel Stroke Audit Yes

National Audit of Dementia National Audit of Dementia Yes

National Falls and Bone Health Audit National Falls and Bone Health Audit Yes

National Comparative Audit of Blood National Comparative Audit of Blood Yes
Transfusion Transfusion

BTS: National COPD Audit BTS: National COPD Audit Yes

BTS: Non-invasive ventilation BTS: Non-invasive ventilation Yes

CEM: Pain in Children CEM: Pain in Children Yes

CEM: Asthma CEM: Asthma Yes

CEM: Fracture CEM: Fracture Yes

National Mastectomy and Breast National Mastectomy and Breast Yes
Reconstruction Audit Reconstruction Audits

National Oesophago-gastric Cancer  National Oesophago-gastric Cancer Yes
Audit Audit

RCP Continence Care Audit RCP Continence Care Audit Yes

National Diabetes Audit National Diabetes Audit Yes

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit Day National Diabetes Inpatient Audit Day Yes

National Comparative Audit of the use of National Comparative Audit of the use Yes
Red Cells in Neonates and Children of Red Cells in Neonates and Children

BTS National Audit of Asthma BTS National Audit of Asthma Yes

BTS Guideline on Emergency Oxygen BTS Guideline on Emergency Oxygen Yes
Use in Adult Patients Use in Adult Patients

National Health Promotion in Hospitals National Health Promotion in Hospitals Yes

National Audit of Trabeculectomy National Audit of Trabeculectomy Yes

National Neonatal Audit Project National Neonatal Audit Project Yes

Parkinsons Disease Society National Parkinsons Disease Society National Yes
Audit 2009 Audit 2009
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A
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that the Royal Devon and

Exeter NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed

during 2009/10, are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit

or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of that

audit or enquiry.

Audit/National Confidential Total No. of Cases Total No. of Cases 
Enquiry Title Required Submitted

PICANet Ongoing data submission Filtered from ICNARC

Vascular Surgery Database Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

ICNARC Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

PROMs – Total Hip Replacement Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

PROMS – Knee Replacement Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

PROMS – Varicose Veins Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

PROMS – Groin Hernia Repair Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

CEMACH Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

NCEPOD – Deaths in Acute Hospitals 29 100%

NCEPOD – Acute Kidney Injury 10 100%

NCEPOD – Parenteral Nutrition 31 100%

NCEPOD – Emergency & Elective 16 100%

Surgery in the Elderly

NCEPOD – Peri-operative Care Data collection ongoing Data collection ongoing

NCEPOD – Paediatric Surgery Data collection ongoing Data collection ongoing

NJR – Hip and Knee replacements Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

Renal Registry: renal replacement therapy Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

NCLA: Lung Cancer Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

NBOCAP: bowel cancer Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

DAHNO: head and neck cancer Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

MINAP Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

Heart Failure Audit Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

NHFD: hip fracture Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

TARN Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

NHS Blood & Transplant: potential donor Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission
audit

n n e x e  B
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Audit/National Confidential Total No. of Cases Total No. of Cases 
Enquiry Title Required Submitted

National Kidney Care Audit – Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

Vascular Access

National Sentinel Stroke Audit 40-60 100%

National Audit of Dementia 40 Haven’t submitted any yet

National Falls and Bone Health Audit 60 100%

National Comparative Audit of Blood 40 100%

Transfusion

BTS: National COPD Audit 40 40

BTS: Non-invasive ventilation

CEM: Pain in Children 50 100%

CEM: Asthma 50 100%

CEM: Fracture 50 100%

National Mastectomy and Breast 225 161

Reconstruction Audit

National Oesophago-gastric Cancer Audit 100-200 144

RCP Continence Care Audit 80 49

CMACE Head Injury Study 85 72 so far, closing date

14/05/2010

National Diabetes Audit Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit Day N/A Clinical Audit Data – 78

Patient Experience

Questionnaire - 30

National Comparative Audit of the use of Neonates – 6

Red Cells in Neonates and Children Paeds – 5

Total - 11

BTS National Audit of Asthma 40 15

BTS Guideline on Emergency Oxygen None

Use in Adult Patients

National Health Promotion in Hospitals 100 100%

National Audit of Trabeculectomy None

National Neonatal Audit Project Ongoing data submission Ongoing data submission
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A
The reports and recommendations of 11 national clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust

in 2009/10. Action plans were drawn up and the following table shows the actions that

were identified and are being implemented. 

Name of National Clinical Actions 
Audit Project

n n e x e  C
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National Audit of Services for
People with Multiple Sclerosis

National Audit for Occupational
Health

UK Comparative Audit of Upper
Gastrointestinal Bleeding and
the Use of Blood

National Sentinel Stroke Audit
2008

National Falls and Bone Fragility
Audit Report

� Identify existing opportunities for patient involvement
through the PCT and seek to co-operate with these 

� Business case for specialist staff to provide immediate
assessment/ therapy and ongoing rehabilitation as well as a
neurology nurse specialist

� To improve information for patients/carers and staff
working with the Health Information Centre to develop the
website for Bolham ward with an emphasis on sourcing local
information/groups

� Screening sheet for depression created 

� Staff encouraged to screen patients for drug and alcohol
intake  

� Alcohol awareness workshop to be held

� Internal re-audit in 12 months’ time

� Write simple Rockall score chart 

� Write local guidelines for transfusion in AUGIB

� Write guidelines for transfusion of blood products in UGI
Bleeding  

� Complete the TIA national pilot project with introduction of
TIA pathway to include weekend working by Stroke Nurse
Practitioners

� Review current stroke pathway to enable direct admission
from ED / MTU to the acute stroke unit via CT scan following
ROSIER assessment by stroke practitioners

� Business Case required for additional employment of 1.0 SLT
to facilitate assessment of swallowing following initial
dysphagia screening on admission

� Devon Provider Stroke Group leading on developing a model
from community stroke units of in-reach into Acute Stroke Unit

� Implementation of urinary continence stroke pathway

� Appointment of 3rd stroke nurse practitioner will enable
specialist follow–up of all patients discharged direct to home
or to Exeter Hospitals

� Devon Provider Stroke Group developing a business case for
Early Supported Discharge or,

� Royal Devon & Exeter NHS Foundation Trust develop an
Early Supported Discharge business case for Exeter patients
based on Portsmouth model off-setting costs against closure
of stroke beds

� Signed up for National Hip Fracture Database 

� Development of a nurse liaison practitioner for fracture services 

� Two consultants due to be appointed in October with
responsibility for falls in their job descriptions



Name of National Clinical Actions 
Audit Project

Local clinical audits are carried out by individual healthcare professionals evaluating aspects of care

that they themselves have selected as being important to them and/or their team. The local audits

are presented at specialty meetings.  Audit recommendations that require executive level support

are reviewed by the Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Committee (CAEC). The reports of two local

clinical audits were reviewed by the CAEC in 2009/10 and the Royal Devon and Exeter NHS Foundation

Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided.

Name of Local Clinical Actions 
Audit Project
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� Discussion of this finding [At RD&E comments on chest 
x-ray appearances were more like to be by junior staff than
by admitting (non-respiratory) consultants] with Acute and
General Physicians

� Respiratory nurses to meet with EMU staff to identify ways
of ensuring all patients are identified and reviewed

� An audit was undertaken to assess whether there is a need
for early discharge scheme

� Business case put in to improve Dietetic Services 

� Business case put in to improve Psychological Support
services 

� Colorectal surgeon hired as from January 2010 

� A new audit post was provided to help with audit research
and development 

� An audit of biological therapy

� Increased staff education and training 

� Clear programme for continuous quality improvement.  

� The updated version of the Liverpool Care Pathway
documentation rolled out to staff    

� GP study days/ roadshows on the best ways to manage
Rheumatoid Arthritis 

� Early Arthritis Clinic

� Early Arthritis one stop shop with rheumatology ultrasound
for early diagnosis. 

� The Trust has increased its clinical monitoring 

Results presented and action plan being developed 

Results presented and action plan being developed 

National Congestive Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease Audit 2008

National Inflammatory Bowel
Disease Audit

National Care of the Dying Audit

Audit of Services for People with
Rheumatoid Arthritis

Audit to Ensure Implementation
of Recommendation published in
NCEPOD’s Severely Injured
Patient Study

NCEPOD Acute Kidney Injury
Study

Local Inflammatory Bowel
Disease Audit 

Parenteral Nutrition Audit Local

� A business case was put forward to appoint an IT database
manager to develop a system of proactive surveillance by
electronic database   

� A nutritional support team was set up.  Hoping to repatriate
Exeter patients who were receiving treatment elsewhere
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